

# **DECISION**

Fair Work Act 2009 s.185—Enterprise agreement

Christian Outreach Centre T/A Suncoast Christian College (AG2021/8461)

# SUNCOAST CHRISTIAN COLLEGE COLLECTIVE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2021

Educational services

**COMMISSIONER HUNT** 

BRISBANE, 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Application for approval of the Suncoast Christian College Collective Enterprise Agreement 2021.

- [1] Christian Outreach Centre T/A Suncoast Christian College (the Employer) has applied for approval of an enterprise agreement known as the *Suncoast Christian College Collective Enterprise Agreement 2021* (the Agreement). The application was made pursuant to s.185 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (the Act). The Agreement is a single-enterprise agreement.
- [2] I have taken into consideration the material filed in the Commission. I am satisfied that each of the requirements of ss.186, 187, 188 and as are relevant to this application for approval have been met. The Agreement does not cover all of the employees of the employer, however, taking into account s.186(3) and (3A) I am satisfied that the group of employees was fairly chosen.
- [3] The Independent Education Union of Australia (IEUA) being a bargaining representative for the Agreement has given notice under s.183 of the Act that it wants the Agreement to cover it. In accordance with s.201(2) of the Act I note that the Agreement covers the IEUA.
- [4] The Agreement is approved and, in accordance with s.54 of the Act, will operate from 7 December 2021. The nominal expiry date of the Agreement is 31 December 2024.



Printed by authority of the Commonwealth Government Printer

<AE514088 PR736302>



# SUNCOAST CHRISTIAN COLLEGE COLLECTIVE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2021

- **p**. 07 5451 3600
- a. Cnr Schubert & Kiel Mtn Rds, Woombye | PO Box 5254, Sunshine Coast MC Q 4560
- e. info@suncoastcc.qld.edu.au

# SUNCOAST CHRISTIAN COLLEGE COLLECTIVE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2021

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Subject Matter	Clause No
PART 1 – PRELIMINARY & TECHNICAL MATTERS	
Title	·
Coverage	
Date and Period of Operation	·
Posting of Agreement	
Faith Basis of College	·
Relationship with Other Instruments	
Policy and Procedure Development	<del></del>
Union Recognition	
No Further Claims	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Savings Clause	
Amendment, Renewal and Replacement	<u>1.1</u>
PART 2 – CONSULTATION, FLEXIBILITY AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
Consultation	2.
College Consultative Committee	
Individual Flexibility Arrangements	2 <u>2.</u> :
Dispute Resolution Procedure	2 <u>2.</u>
PART 3 – EMPLOYMENT MATTERS	
Types of Employment - Teachers	<u>3.</u>
Types of Employment – Employees (excluding Teachers)	<u>3.</u>
Conversion of Casual Employment	<u>3.</u>
Flexible Working Arrangements	·
Job Share	
Teacher Classification	
Senior Teacher	·
Highly Accomplished and Lead Teachers (HALT)	
Positions of Added Responsibility	·
School Officer Classification	
General Staff Classification	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Early Learning Centre Employees	
Averaging Wages	
Proportion of Salary - Teachers	
Resignation and Termination of Employment	
Redundancy	<u>3.1</u> 1
PART 4 – HOURS OF WORK AND PROFESSIONAL MATTERS	
Hours of Duty - Teachers	
Hours of Duty – School Officers & General Staff	·
Professional Development	·
Appraisal	
Provision for Students with Special Needs	1

Provisions for Composite Classes	<u>4.6</u>
Class Sizes	4.7
PART 5 – WAGES AND SUPERANNUATION	
Wages	<u>5.1</u>
Superannuation	<u>5.2</u>
Salary Packaging	<u>5.3</u>
Allowances	
Payment for High Duties – School Officers and General Staff	<u>5.5</u>
Staff Discount	<u>5.6</u>
PART 6 – LEAVE ARRANGEMENTS	
Personal/Carer's Leave	<u>6.1</u>
Annual Leave	<u>6.2</u>
Community Service Leave	<u>6.3</u>
Public Holidays	<u>6.4</u>
Parental Leave	<u>6.5</u>
Partner Leave	<u>6.6</u>
Long Service Leave	<u>6.7</u>
Examination and Study Leave	<u>6.8</u>
Compassionate Leave	<u>6.9</u>
Emergency and Natural Disaster Leave	<u>6.10</u>
Domestic Violence Leave and Measures	<u>6.1</u> 1
Union Training Leave	<u>6.12</u>
PART 7 – SIGNATORIES	
Appendix 1 – Wages and Allowances	
<u>Appendix 2</u> – School Officer Classification Matrix	
Appendix 3 – Senior Teacher	
Appendix 4 – Highly Accomplished and Lead Teachers (HALT)	
Appendix 5 – Positions of Added Responsibility	
Appendix 6 – Early Learning Centre Conditions	

#### PART 1 – PRELIMINARY & TECHNICAL MATTERS

#### 1.1 Title

This Agreement shall be known as the Suncoast Christian College Collective Enterprise Agreement 2021 (the "Agreement").

# 1.2 Coverage

- 1.2.1 This Agreement shall apply to Suncoast Christian College (hereinafter "Suncoast Christian College", or the "College", or the "Employer") (ABN 72 157 669 672) and the Employees of the College whose classification is contained herein, and the Independent Education Union of Australia Queensland and Northern Territory Branch (IEUA-QNT) (ABN 74 662 601 045).
- 1.2.2 The Agreement shall also apply to the positions of Director, Head of School and Deputy Principal in all respects other than salary. Such Employees will be entitled to the percentage increases prescribed in <a href="Appendix1">Appendix 1</a> of the Agreement.

# 1.3 Date and Period of Operation

This Agreement shall operate from seven (7) days after approval by Fair Work Commission and shall remain in force until 31 December 2024.

# 1.4 Posting of Agreement

A copy of this Agreement shall be exhibited in a conspicuous and convenient place at the College so as to be easily read by Employees.

# 1.5 Faith Basis of College

1.5.1 Suncoast Christian College exists to provide Christ-centred education that promotes life-long learning, develops excellence and Christian character, and fosters social responsibility.

The College is committed to the Bible as the Holy and infallible Word of God, which is to be used as the guide to understanding the world God has given us. As a distinctive Christian College, it is committed to serving the needs of its parents and their children. The approach to whole curriculum acknowledges the sovereignty of God over all things.

In order to fulfil our purpose, mission and vision it is essential that staff acknowledge and accept that it is through the redeeming and atoning work of the Lord Jesus Christ on Calvary that they are able to enter into a personal relationship with God.

This Agreement between Employer and Employees serves to preserve the special qualities which constitute the distinctive style and nature of the College. We earnestly desire to build a school that is faithful to the Lordship of Jesus, that exemplifies the great commandment that seeks justice, mercy and love and recognises that service to God and others should be our primary motivation in life.

- 1.5.2 It is an inherent genuine occupational requirement and essential condition of employment and continuing employment that an Employee possesses and maintains a firm personal belief consistent with the Statement of Faith of International Network of Churches (inc), together with an active commitment to and involvement with a Christian church recognized by the local Ministers' Fraternal. Accordingly, all Employees are expected by the College to possess and maintain throughout the term of this Agreement a firm personal belief consistent with the Statement of Faith of the International Network of Churches (inc), together with an active commitment to and involvement with a Christian church recognized by the local Ministers' Fraternal. At the least, such an active commitment requires regular and frequent attendance at the Church's worship services.
- 1.5.3 Should an Employee cease to have a firm personal belief consistent with the Statement of Faith of International Network of Churches (inc), together with an active commitment to and involvement with a Christian church recognized by the local Ministers' Fraternal the Employee shall inform the College.
- 1.5.4 If this situation continues after counselling and an opportunity for restoration, the College may terminate the Employee's employment, in accordance with the normal requirements relating to termination of employment.

This Agreement is to be read in the light of this section.

# 1.6 Relationship with Other Instruments

This is a comprehensive Agreement that applies to the exclusion of all other industrial instruments. This Agreement will be read in conjunction with the National Employment Standards (NES). No term of this Agreement shall be less favourable to Employees than the corresponding term in the NES. If a term of this Agreement is less favourable, the corresponding provision of the NES will apply.

# 1.7 Policy and Procedure Development

Periodically, current policies and procedures will be amended and additional policies will be considered and implemented by the Employer. In these instances, the Employer undertakes to consult Employees using the mechanisms of the consultative processes in Part 2 of this Agreement.

#### 1.8 Union Recognition

The College recognises the Unions party to this Agreement as the legitimate industrial representatives of the Employees according to their Unions' respective callings.

The College and the Unions are committed to working constructively together to further the interests of education and specifically non-governmental education and the Employees in this industry, while at the same time working constructively together to further the interests of Suncoast Christian College, as expressed in this Agreement and other public documents.

Subject to agreement with the respective Union, the College shall make available to all Employees facilities for the payment of their Union fees, either by payroll deduction, direct debit or other schemes as agreed. The operation of any such facility shall be dependent upon the appropriate authorisations being signed by the Employee.

#### 1.9 No Further Claims

There shall be no further claims in relation to wages or conditions during the life of this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes a closed Agreement in settlement of all other industrial matters for the duration of this Agreement.

# 1.10 Savings Clause

The existing conditions and accrued entitlements of Employees employed at the date of signing, shall not be reduced as a result of this Agreement coming into effect.

## 1.11 Amendment, Renewal and Replacement

- 1.11.1 Subject to satisfactory implementation of this Agreement the parties agree to re-open negotiations three (3) months before expiration with a view to negotiating a replacement Agreement.
- 1.11.2 The existing conditions and accrued entitlements of Employees employed at the date of signing shall not be reduced as a result of this Agreement coming into effect.

# PART 2 - CONSULTATION, FLEXIBILITY AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

# 2.1 Consultation

- 2.1.1 This term applies if the Employer:
  - (a) has made a definite decision to introduce a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to its enterprise that is likely to have a significant effect on the Employees; or
  - (b) proposes to introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of Employees.

#### Major change

- 2.1.2 For a major change referred to in paragraph (2.1.1)(a):
  - (a) the Employer must notify the relevant Employees of the decision to introduce the major change; and
  - (b) subclauses (2.1.3) to (2.1.9) apply.
- 2.1.3 The relevant Employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 2.1.4 If:
  - (a) a relevant Employee appoints, or relevant Employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
  - (b) the Employee or Employees advise the Employer of the identity of the representative. the Employer must recognise the representative.
- 2.1.5 As soon as practicable after making its decision, the Employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant Employees:
    - (i) the introduction of the change; and
    - (ii) the effect the change is likely to have on the Employees; and
    - (iii) measures the Employer is taking to avert or mitigate the adverse effect of the change on the Employees; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide, in writing, to the relevant Employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change including the nature of the change proposed; and
    - (ii) information about the expected effects of the change on the Employees; and
    - (iii) any other matters likely to affect the Employees.
- 2.1.6 However, the Employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant Employees.
- 2.1.7 The Employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the major change by the relevant Employees.
- 2.1.8 If a term in this Agreement provides for a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to the enterprise of the Employer, the requirements set out in paragraph (2.1.2)(a) and subclauses (2.1.3) and (2.1.5) are taken not to apply.
- 2.1.9 In this term, a major change is *likely to have a significant effect on Employees* if it results in:
  - (a) the termination of the employment of Employees; or
  - (b) major change to the composition, operation or size of the Employer's workforce or to the skills required of Employees; or
  - (c) the elimination or diminution of job opportunities (including opportunities for promotion or tenure); or
  - (d) the alteration of hours of work; or
  - (e) the need to retrain Employees; or
  - (f) the need to relocate Employees to another workplace; or
  - (g) the restructuring of jobs.

# Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- 2.1.10 For a change referred to in paragraph (2.1.1)(b):
  - (a) the Employer must notify the relevant Employees of the proposed change; and
  - (b) subclauses (2.1.11) to (2.1.15) apply.
- 2.1.11 The relevant Employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 2.1.12 If:
  - (a) a relevant Employee appoints, or relevant Employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
  - (b) the Employee or Employees advise the Employer of the identity of the representative; the Employer must recognise the representative.
- 2.1.13 As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the Employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant Employees the introduction of the change; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide to the relevant Employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change; and
    - (ii) information about what the Employer reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the Employees; and
    - (iii) information about any other matters that the Employer reasonably believes are likely to affect the Employees; and
  - (c) invite the relevant Employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
- 2.1.14 However, the Employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant Employees.
- 2.1.15 The Employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant Employees.
- 2.1.16 In this term:

relevant Employees means the Employees who may be affected by a change referred to in subclause (2.1.1).

# 2.2 College Consultative Committee

For the purposes of monitoring the implementation of this Agreement, a College Consultative Committee consisting of Employer and Employee representatives will meet at least once a term.

- 2.2.1 The parties to this Agreement are committed to co-operation and consultation as part of the climate and culture of the College. The parties accept that, according to the authority and responsibility structure of the College, final decision making remains the prerogative of the Principal/Employer. The Principal/Employer, in coming to decisions, is committed to the process of consultation with Employees.
- 2.2.2 The College has in place a number of structures to facilitate consultation and to advise the Principal/Employer in decision making. These structures include:
  - (a) regular meetings of staff, middle management and committees;
  - (b) an Executive Committee of Senior Staff;
  - (c) other committees or groups set up from time to time by the Principal for special purposes; and
  - (d) various committees or officers appointed according to government regulation (e.g. Workplace Health and Safety).
- 2.2.3 The Employer will establish a College Consultative Committee as an important element in the consultative structure within the College to ensure all people affected have an opportunity to participate in the implementation and monitoring of the Agreement at the College level.

- 2.2.4 The overall purpose of the committee is to provide an environment for greater two-way communication and in doing so, establish a forum in which Employees are able to participate in the implementation of the Agreement.
- 2.2.5 The College Consultative Committee also provides management with the opportunity to utilise Employee knowledge and experience. All parties support the principles of co-operation and consultation and agree that effective consultation is dependent upon:
  - (a) a commitment to participate;
  - (b) commitment to the College's established Mission, Philosophy and Aims;
  - (c) co-operation and consultation prior to decisions being made;
  - (d) effective communication processes within the College;
  - (e) training; and
  - (f) regular meetings.
- 2.2.6 Objectives of the College Consultative Committee.

The College Consultative Committee is established to implement, monitor and evaluate the Agreement at the College level. The objectives of the Committee are:

- (a) to promote a co-operative approach to the implementation of the terms of the Agreement;
- (b) to promote an understanding and implementation of the College's Mission, Philosophy and Aims;
- (c) to plan and ensure that necessary changes in work practices and organization are implemented;
- (d) to provide a mechanism for Employees to have input into decisions that affect their working lives, thus providing a more satisfying work environment; and
- (e) to provide a mechanism for Employees to be involved in problem solving.
- 2.2.7 Tasks of the College Consultative Committee.

To achieve the above objectives, the College Consultative Committee will:

- (a) monitor the implementation of the Collective Enterprise Agreement;
- (b) recommend to the Enterprising Bargaining Committee items to be included in the next Collective Enterprise Agreement; and
- (c) consult with employees affected by ongoing implementation.
- 2.2.8 The College Consultative Committee will reflect the governance, administrative and staffing structure of the College and should include:
  - (a) up to 3 persons appointed by the employer and Principal of the College;
  - (b) up to 3 employees elected by employees;
  - (c) 1 school officer or services staff employee elected by the staff; and
  - (d) where appropriate, other relevant personnel may be co-opted for input in specific issues.
- 2.2.9 The Principal will nominate the Chairperson of the Consultative Committee.
- 2.2.10 Where the College Consultative Committee intends to recommend to the Enterprise Bargaining Committee items to be included in the next Enterprise Agreement, all Employees directly affected will be consulted as a group about the proposal by representatives of the College Consultative Committee and/or representatives of Employees.

# 2.3 Individual Flexibility Arrangements

- 2.3.1 An Employer and Employee covered by this Agreement may agree to make an individual flexibility arrangement to vary the effect of terms of the Agreement if:
  - (a) the agreement deals with 1 or more of the following matters:
    - (i) arrangements about when work is performed;
    - (ii) overtime rates;

- (iii) penalty rates;
- (iv) allowances;
- (v) leave loading; and
- (b) the arrangement meets the genuine needs of the Employer and Employee in relation to 1 or more of the matters mentioned in paragraph (a); and
- (c) the arrangement is genuinely agreed to by the Employer and Employee.
- 2.3.2 The Employer must ensure that the terms of the individual flexibility arrangement:
  - (a) are about permitted matters under section 172 of the Fair Work Act 2009; and
  - (b) are not unlawful terms under section 194 of the Fair Work Act 2009; and
  - (c) result in the Employee being better off overall than the Employee would be if no arrangement was made.
- 2.3.3 The Employer must ensure that the individual flexibility arrangement:
  - (a) is in writing; and
  - (b) includes the name of the Employer and Employee; and
  - (c) is signed by the Employer and Employee and if the Employee is under 18 years of age, signed by a parent or guardian of the Employee; and
  - (d) includes details of:
    - (i) the terms of the Agreement that will be varied by the arrangement; and
    - (ii) how the arrangement will vary the effect of the terms; and
    - (iii) how the Employee will be better off overall in relation to the terms and conditions of his or her employment as a result of the arrangement.
  - (e) states the day on which the arrangement commences.
- 2.3.4 The Employer must give the Employee a copy of the individual flexibility arrangement within 14 days after it is agreed to.
- 2.3.5 The Employer or Employee may terminate the individual flexibility arrangement:
  - (a) by giving no more than 28 days' written notice to the other party to the arrangement; or
  - (b) if the Employer and Employee agree in writing at any time.

# 2.4 Dispute Resolution Procedure

- 2.4.1 If a dispute relates to:
  - (a) a matter arising under the Agreement; or
  - (b) the NES;

this term sets out procedures to settle the dispute.

- 2.4.2 An Employee who is a party to the dispute may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 2.4.3 In the first instance, the parties to the dispute must try to resolve the dispute at the workplace level, by discussions between the Employee or Employees and relevant supervisors and/or management.
- 2.4.4 If discussions at the workplace level do not resolve the dispute, a party to the dispute may refer the matter to Fair Work Commission.
- 2.4.5 The Fair Work Commission may deal with the dispute in 2 stages:
  - (a) the Fair Work Commission will first attempt to resolve the dispute as it considers appropriate, including by mediation, conciliation, expressing an opinion or making a recommendation; and
  - (b) if the Fair Work Commission is unable to resolve the dispute at the first stage, the Fair Work Commission may then:

- (i) arbitrate the dispute; and
- (ii) make a determination that is binding on the parties.

Note: If Fair Work Commission arbitrates the dispute, it may also use the powers that are available to it under the Act.

A decision that Fair Work Commission makes when arbitrating a dispute is a decision for the purpose of Div 3 of Part 5.1 of the Act. Therefore, an appeal may be made against the decision.

- 2.4.6 While the parties are trying to resolve the dispute using the procedures in this term:
  - (a) an Employee must continue to perform his or her work as he or she would normally unless he or she has a reasonable concern about an imminent risk to his or her health or safety; and
  - (b) an Employee must comply with a direction given by the Employer to perform other available work at the same workplace, or at another workplace, unless:
    - (i) the work is not safe; or
    - (ii) applicable occupational health and safety legislation would not permit the work to be performed; or
    - (iii) the work is not appropriate for the Employee to perform; or
    - (iv) there are other reasonable grounds for the Employee to refuse to comply with the direction.
- 2.4.7 The parties to the dispute agree to be bound by a decision made by Fair Work Commission in accordance with this term.

#### **PART 3 – EMPLOYMENT MATTERS**

# 3.1 Types of Employment – Teachers

Teaching staff shall be advised in writing of their employment category upon appointment. Employment categories are:

- (a) full-time employment;
- (b) part-time employment;
- (c) casual employment; or
- (d) fixed term employment.

# 3.1.1 Terms of Engagement

- (a) On appointment, the Employer will provide the Employee (other than a casual Employee) with a letter of appointment stating the classification and rate of salary applicable on commencement, the Employee's face-to-face teaching load and details of their extra curricular commitment.
- (b) In the case of a part-time Employee, the letter of appointment will include the Employee's teaching load expressed as a percentage of a full-time load in the school and that their extra curricular commitment will generally be, on balance, in the same proportion to their teaching load as that of a full-time teacher.
- (c) Where the Employer engages the Employee on a fixed term basis, the letter of appointment will inform the Employee of the reason the employment is fixed term, the date of commencement and the period of the employment.

# 3.1.2 Full-Time Employment

A full-time Employee is an Employee engaged to work the hours specified in clause 4.1.

#### 3.1.3 Part-Time Employment

- (a) A part-time Employee is an Employee who is engaged to work on a regular basis for less than, but not more than 90% of, the hours of a full-time Employee at the College. If the hours of a part-time Employee rise above 90%, the Employee will be considered to be full-time.
- (b) A part-time Employee is entitled to the benefits under this Agreement on a pro rata basis.
- (c) An Employee (full-time or part-time) who requests to work above 90% of full-time hours, but less than full-time, will not be considered to be full-time and will be remunerated for the actual hours worked.
- (d) An Employer cannot vary a part-time Employee's teaching load or days of attendance unless:
  - (i) the Employee consents; or
  - (ii) where such a variation is required as a result of a change in funding, enrolment or curriculum, the Employer provides seven weeks' notice in writing in the case of a teacher or where the change would result in a reduction in salary, the salary of the teacher is maintained for a period of seven weeks in the case of a teacher.

# 3.1.4 Casual Employment

- (a) Casual employment means employment on a day-to-day basis for a period of not more than four consecutive weeks, or four consecutive term weeks in the case of a teacher in the college.
- (b) A casual engagement may be extended by agreement between the teacher and the Employer provided the total period of the engagement does not exceed one school term.
- (c) The rates of pay for a casual Employee are contained in Appendix 1.

# 3.1.5 Fixed Term Employment

- (a) The Employer will identify those teacher positions which would more appropriately be designated continuing positions or fixed term positions. Fixed term positions are those identified as meeting an identifiable short term need as in clause 3.1.5 (d).
- (b) It is recognized that in some exceptional situations a teacher may accept appointment to a series of fixed term appointments for a series of identifiable short term needs.
- (c) The Employer will employ an Employee on a fixed term contract of employment only where the Employee is appointed to cover an identifiable short term need(s).

- (d) An identifiable short term need could include:
  - (i) special projects;
  - (ii) proposed closure of a school;
  - (iii) short term funding;
  - (iv) filling the position of a specified Employee who is on nominated leave from the school;
  - (v) filling the position of an Employee arising from a resignation, where such position is declared vacant and no suitable permanent Employee is available;
  - (vi) accommodating temporary enrolment fluctuations in a school resulting from a specific short term factor such as a population influx during the construction period of an industrial development;
  - (vii) providing release time for senior administration staff in a school where the relevant arrangements vary for a specific short term arrangement; and
  - (viii) employing a part-time teacher to address class size issues and/or enhance curriculum offerings on a short term basis.
- (e) A fixed term contract of employment will not be used as a probationary period.
- (f) Where an Employer employs an Employee on a fixed term contract, the Employer will indicate in the Employee's letter of appointment the terms, conditions and specific duration (commencement and cessation dates) of the appointment.
- (g) Except as provided in clause 3.1.5 (g), a fixed term Employee will not be employed for a period in excess of twelve (12) months. However, if the identifiable short-term need exists after the twelve (12) month period, a further fixed term appointment (no longer than twelve months) may be agreed between the parties. Any agreement reached between an Employer and an Employee as prescribed by this clause shall be in writing and signed by both parties.
  - (i) Where an Employer receives short term funding for a specific purpose/project and that funding covers a specified period which is in excess of twelve (12) months then an Employee may be appointed for that specified period of time; or
  - (ii) Where an Employee is provided with a period of parental leave which is in excess of twelve (12) months then an Employee may be appointed on a fixed term contract for that specified period of time; or
  - (iii) Where an Employee commences on a specified period of approved leave (paid and/or unpaid) which is in excess of twelve (12) months then an Employee may be appointed on a fixed term contract for that specified period of time.
- (h) Conversion from Fixed Term to Continuing Status

The Employer will provide information to any teacher on a fixed term appointment of the procedures to be followed and the criteria used if the teacher wishes to apply for continuing status.

# 3.2 Types of Employment – Employees (excluding Teachers)

- 3.2.1 School officers & general staff will be employed in one of the following categories:
  - (a) full-time employment;
  - (b) part-time employment; or
  - (c) casual employment; or
  - (d) fixed term employment.

At the time of engagement, an Employer will inform each Employee whether they are employed on a full-time, part-time or casual basis and the Employee's classification.

# 3.2.2 Full-time employment

A full-time Employee is an Employee engaged to work 38 hours per week or an average of 38 hours per week.

# 3.2.3 Part-time employment

- (a) A part-time Employee is an Employee who is engaged to work less than 38 ordinary hours per week or an average of less than 38 hours per week and/or for less than the full school year and who has reasonably predictable hours of work.
- (b) A part-time Employee will be paid an hourly rate of 1/38th of the weekly rate for the Employee's classification.
- (c) A part-time Employee's Agreement entitlements will be calculated on a pro rata basis.
- (d) At the time of engagement, the Employer and the part-time Employee will agree in writing on a regular pattern of work, specifying the number of hours worked each day, the days of the week the Employee will work, the number of weeks of the school year the Employee will work and starting and finishing times each day.
- (e) The terms of the agreement in clause 3.2.3 (d) may be varied by agreement between the Employer and an Employee. Any such variation will be recorded in writing.

# 3.2.4 Casual employment

- (a) A casual Employee is an Employee engaged as such.
- (b) A casual Employee will be paid an hourly rate of 1/38th of the weekly rate for the Employee's classification, plus 25%.
- (c) A casual Employee will be engaged and paid for a minimum of two hours for each engagement. Except that a preschool/childcare services Employee working in an out of school hours care program may satisfy the two hour minimum by working one hour before school and one hour after school on the same day.
- (d) A casual Employee must be paid at the termination of each engagement, or fortnightly or monthly in accordance with usual payment methods for full-time Employees.
- (e) A single casual engagement for an Employee (excluding Teachers) where the weekly pattern of work is regular and systematic, must not exceed 10 weeks in duration.
- (f) Furthermore, the College will comply with its obligations with respect to casual conversion in accordance with the requirements set out in the National Employment Standards.

#### 3.2.5 Fixed Term Contracts

The following provisions of this clause will apply to all Employees (excluding Teachers).

# 3.2.6 Fixed Term Appointment

- (a) The Employer will employ an Employee on a fixed term contract of employment only where the Employee is appointed to cover an identifiable short term need.
- (b) An identifiable short term need could include:
  - (i) special projects;
  - (ii) proposed closure of a school;
  - (iii) short term funding;
  - (iv) filling the position if a specified Employee who is on nominated leave from the school; and
  - (v) filling the position of an Employee arising from a resignation, where such position is declared vacant and no suitable permanent Employee is available.
- 3.2.7 A fixed term contract of employment will not be used as a probationary period.
- 3.2.8 Where an Employer employs an Employee on a fixed term contract, the Employer will indicate in the Employee's letter of appointment the terms, conditions and specific duration (commencement and cessation dates) of the appointment.
- 3.2.9 Except as provided in clause 3.2.6, a fixed term Employee will not be employed for a period in excess of twelve (12) months. However, if the identifiable short-term need exists after the twelve (12) month period, a further fixed term appointment (no longer than twelve (12) months) may be agreed between the parties. Any agreement reached between an Employer and an Employee as prescribed by this clause shall be in writing and signed by both parties.

- 3.2.10 Where an Employer receives short term funding for a specific purpose/project and the funding covers a specified period which is in excess of twelve (12) months, then an Employee may be appointed for that specified period of time; or
- 3.2.11 Where an Employee is provided with a period of parental leave in accordance with this Agreement which is in excess of twelve (12) months then an Employee may be appointed on a fixed term contract for that specified period of time; or
- 3.2.12 Where an Employee commences on a specified period of approved leave (paid and/or unpaid) which is in excess of twelve (12) months then an Employee may be appointed on a fixed term contract for that specified period of time.
- 3.2.13 The Employer will provide information to any school officer on a fixed term appointment of the procedures to be followed and the criteria used if the school officer wishes to apply for continuing status.

# 3.3 Conversion of Casual Employment

3.3.1 A casual Employee who has been engaged for 12 months who has worked a regular pattern of hours during at least the last 6 months may request to be converted to full-time or part-time employment in accordance with the *Fair Work Act 2009* (C'th), provided that the employee could continue their regular hours in a permanent capacity without significant changes by the Employer.

### 3.4 Flexible Working Arrangements

- 3.4.1 A full time Employee may apply in writing to work on a part time basis for a fixed period, after which time they would again revert back to full time status.
- 3.4.2 In giving consideration to the Employee's application to move to part time work for a fixed period, the Employer will take into account the following:
  - (a) the particular circumstances of the Employee that give rise to the application;
  - (b) the operational requirements of the organisation, including the Employer's capacity to reorganise work arrangements and secure competent replacement staff; and
  - (c) the financial implications for the organisation.
- 3.4.3 Such arrangements shall only be made at the request of the Employee and by agreement with the Employer.
- 3.4.4 For the avoidance of doubt, an arrangement made in accordance with the provisions of this clause is separate from the rights provided to employees in accordance with section 65 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (C'th).

# 3.5 Job Share

The parties agree that the provisions set out in Table 1 below will be the minimum requirements in relation to job share arrangements.

Tabl<u>e 1:</u>

SUBJECT:	DESCRIPTION:
Definition	Job Share is a voluntary arrangement in which a full-time continuing position, occupied by a full-time continuing Employee, is divided between that Employee and another suitable Employee. Both Employees will share responsibility for the position for a fixed-term period.
Principles underpinning the Agreement	Job-share arrangements are arrangements entered into at Employee initiative and that no Employee will be coerced into taking up or converting to such a position.
Size of School Ratio	The number of job-share positions offered in the College shall not exceed one (1) to seven (7) – (one job-share position to seven full-time positions). The Employer has the right to vary the ratio above the maximum of 1:7 where necessary or desirable.
Subsequent Appointment	At the conclusion of the job-share period, both Employees will return to the position as designated in the relevant letter of appointment and the employment status each held before the job-share began.
Length of Appointment	Job-share positions are usually for one (1) school year. Job-share positions may be for shorter periods and may be negotiated at the end of each year for a subsequent period.
Arrangements	Arrangements of the job-share position will be detailed in a document signed by the Employer and Employees, to include but not limited to: days/hours worked, communication protocols, planning time, non-contact time excursions, parent-teacher interviews, assessment and reporting procedures, playground and bus duty, attendance at staff meeting, timetabled sport and related arrangements, and professional development.
	The arrangements should outline the protocols to be followed, if for whatever reason, one member of the job-share position is unable to continue in the position during the period of the job-share arrangement
Alterations to Arrangements	Alterations to arrangements may be initiated by the Employee/s or Employer and need to be mutually agreed. Such alterations will require at least two (2) weeks' notice or a shorter period by mutual agreement.
Division of Position	The position may be divided according to full days but will provide for other options, which may be mutually agreed between the Employer and Employees.
Rates of Pay	Employees of job-share positions are to be remunerated on a pro-rata basis according to their classification, and include reference to any relevant allowances.
Pro-Rata Conditions and Benefits	Employees in job-share positions will receive on a pro-rata basis all entitlements in regard to: annual leave, annual leave loading, sick leave, long service leave, superannuation and all Agreement benefits and any other relevant allowances.
	Where one Employee in a job-share position accesses sick leave or short term leave, the remaining Employee will be offered the relief work. The method of remuneration associated with such relief work, whether it be at the hourly rate with accrued leave entitlements or at the casual rate without accrued leave entitlements, will be agreed to and stated in initial arrangements. The guidelines will indicate that usual replacement conditions apply for leave such as long service leave, maternity/paternity and adoption leave. The guidelines will specify that where situations of redundancy occur, redundancy provisions will apply to the job-share incumbent/s.
Professional Development and Planning Days	Job-share Employees are entitled to access professional development and promotion, as can full-time Employees. Teacher job-share Employees are expected to attend professional development days as designated by the Employer.

### 3.6 Teacher Classification

- 3.6.1 A 4 Year trained Teacher shall be appointed at the Graduate classification.
- 3.6.2 A Teacher admitted to the service as a 4 Year trained Teacher who has an Approved bachelor's degree with first and second degree honours from a recognised University plus one Year of Teacher education or 2 Approved degrees from a recognised university plus one Year of Teacher education shall commence on Proficient 1.
- 3.6.3 Progression from one salary step to a higher salary step shall be by automatic annual increment up to a maximum salary of Proficient 8.
- 3.6.4 In the case of a casual or part-time teacher, progression to the next increment will be after 1000 hours of duty.

#### 3.7 Senior Teacher

Teachers shall have access to the Senior Teacher classification in accordance with Appendix 3 of this Agreement.

# 3.8 Highly Accomplished and Lead Teachers (HALT)

Teachers shall have access to Highly Accomplished Teacher and Lead Teacher classifications in accordance with <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/j.com/linearing/">Appendix 4</a> of this Agreement.

# 3.9 Positions of Added Responsibility

The parties have negotiated a "Positions of Added Responsibility" structure for the College in accordance with <u>Appendix</u> 5 of this Agreement.

# 3.10 School Officer Classification

School Officers shall be classified in accordance with the matrix in Appendix 2 of this Agreement.

- 3.10.1 A School Officer may request a reclassification of their position. Such a request may be made either in relation to the classification level of an existing position or where the classification level of the position has been changed. Except in exceptional circumstances no Employee shall be permitted to seek a reclassification of their position on more than one occasion in a twelve (12) month period.
- 3.10.2 The Employee shall make any such Request for Reclassification, in writing, to the Employer.
- 3.10.3 The Employer shall consider the Request for Reclassification and notify the Employee in writing of the decision regarding the Employee's request.
- 3.10.4 If after receiving the Employer's notification, the Employee believes that their position has not been classified at the correct level, the Employee may apply for a review of that decision. In this case the Employee shall make written application for a Review of Classification to the Employer.
- 3.10.5 The School Officer will be advised in writing of the outcome of this review.
  - If an agreed outcome cannot be reached, the Employee may refer the matter to the Fair Work Commission in the terms of the Disputes Resolution Procedure.
- 3.10.6 Each level of the classification structure has varying steps which provide for yearly increments within a level. Such increments are payable subject to satisfactory performance but will not be unreasonably withheld by the Employer without due process.
- 3.10.7 For the purposes of establishing the entitlement of an Employee to a yearly pay increment, a year's service shall constitute 1976 hours of duty.

### 3.11 General Staff Classification

Wages rates for General Staff are contained in Appendix 1 of this Agreement. General Staff will be classified as follows:

# 3.11.1 Miscellaneous Workers

# (a) Level 1

An Employee at this level has been employed for a period of less than three months and is not carrying out the duties of a level 3 or level 4 Employee.

# (b) Level 2

An Employee at this level has been employed for more than three months and is not carrying out the duties of a level 3 or level 4 Employee.

#### (c) Level 3

An Employee at this level has a trade qualification or equivalent and is carrying out duties requiring such qualifications.

#### (d) Level 4

An Employee at this level has advanced trade qualifications and is carrying out duties requiring such qualifications or is a sub-professional Employee.

# 3.11.2 Building Products Manufacture & Minor Maintenance Workers

(a) Upon appointment, staff shall be classified as either Labourers or Tradespersons and paid accordingly.

# 3.11.3 Retail Workers

- (a) "Shop Assistant" means an Employee engaged in the reception, sale, or delivery by hand of any goods for sale by retail and/or for hire.
- (b) "First Level Supervisor" means an Employee who is appointed by the Employer to be, or is, responsible for a defined or designated area of a shop. Such Employee may work alone, or directly supervise other Employees, in the defined or designated area.
- (c) "Second Level Supervisor/Shop Manager" means an Employee who is appointed by the Employer to be, or is, in charge of a number of defined or designated areas of a shop, or to be, or is, in charge of a shop.

#### 3.11.4 Motor Drivers

(a) Upon appointment, staff shall be classified as either Cleaner/Greaser or Bus Driver and paid accordingly.

#### 3.11.5 Greenkeepers

- (a) Greenkeeping Employee Level 1 is an Employee who is engaged to assist in a range of general duties applicable to the maintenance and development of turf areas and surrounds. An Employee will remain at this level for a maximum of 6 months.
- (b) Greenkeeping Employee Level 2 is an Employee who has completed structured training so as to enable the Employee to perform work within the scope of this level. An Employee at this level performs work above and beyond the skills of a Greenkeeping Employee Level 1 and to the level of their training.
- (c) Greenkeeping Employee Level 3 is an Employee who is engaged to assist and carry out, with or without direction, duties pertaining to the maintenance and development of turf areas and surrounds, and performs work above and beyond the skills of a Greenkeeping Employee Level 2 and to the level of their training.
- (d) Greenkeeping Employee Level 4 (Tradesperson) is an Employee who has satisfactorily attained the appropriate level of training at trade or equivalent level.
- (e) Greenkeeping Employee Level 5 is an Employee who has satisfactorily attained the appropriate level of training at the trade or equivalent level and who carries out and/or manages greenkeeping aspects pertaining to the general maintenance and development of turf areas and surrounds.
- (f) Greenkeeping Employee Level 6 is an Employee who is responsible for the total management of a turf area and surrounds, but does not include Employees who have the right to engage and/or terminate the services of other Employees.

# 3.12 Early Learning Centre Employees

Conditions for staff employed in an Early Learning Centre operated by the College are set out in <u>Appendix 6</u> of this Agreement.

# 3.13 Averaging Wages

If a continuing Employee (other than a Teacher) works less than fifty two (52) weeks a year, they may make written application to the Principal to have their pay averaged out over the full year. Subject to the approval of the Principal, such an agreement shall be recorded in writing and a copy must be kept as part of the time and wages record of the affected Employee

# 3.14 Proportion of Salary – Teachers

- 3.14.1 The provisions of this clause will apply:
  - (a) in the calculation of payment in regard to pro rata salary where an Employee's employment ceases;
  - (b) in the calculation of payment in regard to pro rata salary if:
    - (i) an Employee commenced employment after the school or preschool service date;
    - (ii) an Employee has taken leave without pay of more than two term weeks since the school or preschool service date; or
    - (iii) the hours which an Employee has worked at school or preschool have varied since the school or preschool service date.

# 3.14.2 Calculation of payments

 $P = \underline{s \times c} - d$ 

- P is the payment due
- s is the total salary paid in respect of term weeks, or part thereof, since the school or preschool service date or the date of employment in circumstances where the Employee has been employed by the Employer since the school or preschool service date.
- b is the number of term weeks, or part thereof in the school or preschool year
- c is the number of non-term weeks, or part thereof, in the school or preschool year
- d is the salary paid in respect of non-term weeks, or part thereof, that have occurred since the school or preschool service date or date of employment in circumstances where the Employee has been employed by the Employer since the school or preschool service date.
- 3.14.3 For the purpose of this clause:
  - (a) **school or preschool service date** means the date from which Employees are paid at the commencement of the school/preschool year in their first year of service with the Employer; and
  - (b) **Employee** means Teacher other than a teacher engaged as a casual Employee.
- 3.14.4 The formula in clause 3.14.2 is intended to be used to calculate the pro rata salary inclusive of annual leave owing to an Employee in respect of the school/preschool year in which the formula is applied.

### 3.15 Resignation and Termination of Employment

- 3.15.1 The parties agree that in order to enable the College to make appropriately considered appointments to the College staff, there needs to be sufficient time from the receipt of a resignation to the date of its effectiveness.
- 3.15.2 Teaching staff are required to give four (4) weeks' notice during term time. All other Employees are required to give four (4) weeks' notice.
- 3.15.3 If an Employee fails to give the amount of notice prescribed in clause 3.15.2, the Employer may withhold from any wages due to the Employee on termination under this Agreement, an amount not exceeding two (2) weeks' wages in the case of a Teacher or one (1) week's wages in the case of an Employee other than a Teacher.
- 3.15.4 The notice of termination required to be provided by the Employer is the same as that required by the Employee in Clause 3.15.2, provided that an Employee that is over 45 years old and has completed at least two years of continuous service, will receive an additional one week's notice.

# 3.16 Redundancy

Where redundancy is contemplated by the Employer, the consultative provisions of this Agreement shall apply in addition to the following:

#### 3.16.1 Transfer to lower paid duties

- (a) Where an Employee is transferred to lower paid duties by reason of redundancy, the same period of notice must be given as the Employee would have been entitled to if the employment had been terminated. The Employer may, at the Employer's option, make payment instead of an amount equal to the difference between the former ordinary time rate of pay and the new ordinary time rate for the number of weeks of notice still owing.
- (b) Employees aged over 45 years of age and who have been continually employed for 2 years or more are eligible for an additional week's notice.

# 3.16.2 Time off during notice period

- (a) Where a decision has been made to terminate an Employee due to redundancy, the Employee shall be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay during each week of notice for the purpose of seeking other employment.
- (b) If the Employee has been allowed paid leave for more than one day during the notice period for the purpose of seeking other employment, the Employee shall, at the request of the Employer, be required to produce proof of attendance at an interview or the Employee shall not receive payment for the time absent. For this purpose, a statutory declaration will be sufficient.

# 3.16.3 Severance pay

(a) In addition to the period of notice prescribed for termination in clause 3.15.4, an Employee whose employment is terminated due to redundancy will be entitled to the following amounts of severance pay:

Period of Continuous Service	Severance Pay (weeks' pay)
Less than 1 year	nil
1 year but not more than 2 years	4
More than 2 years but not more than 3 years	6
More than 3 years but not more than 4 years	7
More than 4 years but not more than 5 years	8
More than 5 years but not more than 6 years	10
More than 6 years but not more than 7 years	11
More than 7 years but not more than 8 years	13
More than 8 years but not more than 9 years	14
More than 9 years	16

#### (b) Employee leaving during notice period

An Employee given notice of termination in circumstances of redundancy may terminate their employment during the NES period of notice. The Employee is entitled to receive the benefits and payments they would have received under this clause had they remained in employment until the expiry of the notice, but is not entitled to payment instead of notice.

# (c) Job search entitlement

An Employee given notice of termination in circumstances of redundancy must be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay during each week of NES notice for the purpose of seeking other employment.

If the Employee has been allowed paid leave for more than one day during the NES notice period for the purpose of seeking other employment, the Employee must, at the request of the Employer, produce proof of attendance at an interview or they will not be entitled to payment for the time absent. For this purpose a statutory declaration is sufficient.

# 3.16.4 Part-time Employees

If a part-time Employee's hours are reduced, without their consent, by more than 25% they will be entitled to the provisions of this clause.

#### PART 4 – HOURS OF WORK AND PROFESSIONAL MATTERS

# 4.1 Hours of Duty – Teachers

This section seeks to outline only the prescribed hours teachers actually work at the College. Suncoast Christian College recognises and values the fact that teachers carry out school work at home on a regular basis in addition to the stated hours in this document. There will be times when staff members are asked or encouraged to undertake atypically heavy workloads (e.g. musicals, long camps, QCAA responsibilities).

The parties agree to the following terms, conditions and quanta relating to the allocation of duty to primary and secondary staff.

- 4.1.1 Teaching staff shall be required for duty during the teaching school year which shall be thirty-nine (39) weeks maximum. A whole teaching week shall be five (5) full days including Public Holidays that fall in a teaching week. Part weeks may have their days accumulated to form a whole teaching week.
- 4.1.2 Maximum Hours of Duty for both primary and secondary teachers shall be 1236 hours per annum.
- 4.1.3 Typical averaging Hours of duty per week for primary teachers and secondary teachers will be up to 31.7 hours per week.
- 4.1.4 P-12 teaching staff shall be allocated hours on a pro-rata basis.

Hours of Duty shall include:

(a) Contact Time:

The maximum contact time for teachers shall be:

Primary Classroom Teacher – 25 hours per week;

Secondary Classroom Teacher 21 hours 40 minutes;

Contact time includes programmed teaching time, programmed sporting and administrative/pastoral care time. It may include compulsory weekly assemblies and chapel.

(b) Non-Contact Time:

During the period of this Agreement, preparation and correction time in the Primary section of the College shall be 2 hours and 30 minutes per week. During the period of this Agreement, preparation and correction time in the Secondary section of the College shall be an amount equal to approximately 20% of actual contact time.

Non–contact duties include tasks primarily related to the Academic and Pastoral programs of the College. These tasks include preparing, setting, correcting and reporting on students' work, assignments and tests; assisting in writing work programs; interviewing students; and discussing pastoral care matters with other staff members.

(c) Other duties:

The balance of the hours of duty may be made up by:

(i) Curricular Duties:

Duties include such things as supervising students generally, playground and bus duty, supervising students detained for punishment, supervising students travelling on buses, staff meetings, assemblies and Chapel services.

(ii) Co-Curricular Duties:

Teachers are required to be involved in co-curricular activities equivalent to an average of 1 hour per week. To achieve the Aims of the College, staff will take on other co-curricular involvements where they feel able. These duties will normally occur before or after school and include supervision and training of sporting teams, performing arts and cultural activities, and sporting carnivals. The type of personal co-curricular involvement will be confirmed after consultation with staff and a consideration of the needs of the College. Where a teacher is timetabled to take sport, co-curricular duties will normally include the training of those teams.

## (iii) Meal Breaks

Teaching staff shall be provided with fifty (50) minutes paid morning tea time per week. Other meal breaks are unpaid.

#### 4.1.5 Overtime

Employees are paid a salary which takes into account all work required of them by the College under this Agreement. No overtime is payable to teachers under this Agreement, except by negotiation between part-time VET teachers and the Principal.

# 4.1.6 Extra-Curricular

Extra-curricular duties are those duties which fall outside the programmed ordinary hours of work. Such duties are honorary and voluntary and shall be arranged by agreement between the teachers and the College.

#### 4.1.7 Other Hours

Teaching staff may additionally perform twelve (12) hours per semester for such activities as Presentation Nights, Primary Information night, Staff Dedication Service, Festival, Spotlight, On Stage, Open Day and evening Parent-Teacher Interviews.

# 4.1.8 Camps

For the success of the P-12 camping program, teachers should normally be available to attend one camp per year in an appropriate year level after consultation with the Head of School.

#### 4.1.9 Non-Contact Days

In addition to the thirty-nine (39) weeks required of teachers as set out in clause 4.4.1, non-contact days will be scheduled to assist staff development and planning and will include:

- (a) up to four (4) days in non-term time prior to the start of the College year to be scheduled by the school (three (3) days for current staff and four (4) days for new staff);
- (b) up to five (5) days non-contact days to be scheduled by the Principal between terms 2 and 3; and
- (c) one (1) day in term time for term 4.

Additionally, non-contact day(s) will be scheduled in the final week of Term 4 for other end-of-year activities.

# 4.1.10 Reasonable Additional Hours

The parties agree that hours under this clause are reasonable additional hours within the meaning of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (C'th).

# 4.2 Hours of Duty - School Officers & General Staff

- 4.2.1 Subject to the provisions of this clause the ordinary hours of work for a School Officer or General Staff Employee shall not exceed 76 hours per fortnight.
- 4.2.2 Such ordinary hours of work shall be worked continuously (except for meal breaks) between 7.00 am and 6.00 pm on Mondays to Fridays inclusive or on such other terms as agreed at the point of engagement or subsequently changed by mutual agreement in accordance with the individual flexibility clause in Part 2 of this Agreement.
- 4.2.3 The normal starting and finishing times of ordinary hours shall be established at the point of engagement. The normal starting and finishing times can only be varied by the College with (2) two weeks' notice or shorter period by mutual agreement.
- 4.2.4 The minimum engagement for a casual or part-time School Officer or General Staff Employee shall be two hours per day. Employee rosters shall be developed to avoid 'broken shifts' on a single day. Should an Employee be scheduled a 'broken shift', a penalty of 15% of the Employee's ordinary hourly wage shall be paid for both parts of the shift.

4.2.5 Payment or banking of ordinary hours for School Officers & General Staff

Where the Employer authorises additional hours to be worked by an Employee (and the Employee agrees to work those additional hours) beyond the Employee's normal starting and finishing times, but within ordinary hours of work, prescribed in clauses 4.2.1 and 4.2.2, these hours will be either:

- (a) paid for at the casual hourly rate; or
- (b) the employee will be granted Time Off In Lieu (TOIL).
- 4.2.6 Any additional hours worked in accordance with clause 4.2.5 will not result in the employee working more than eight hours on a particular day, or more than 38 hours in that week.
- 4.2.7 Payment of TOIL on termination for School Officers & General Staff

An Employee who has accrued TOIL in accordance with clause 4.2.5 will be entitled to payment for that TOIL on termination of their employment.

4.2.8 Unpaid Meal Breaks and Paid Rest Pauses – School Officers & General Staff

# **Unpaid Meal Breaks**

- (a) Staff members are entitled to an unpaid meal break of at least 30 continuous minutes duration per day.
- (b) Where supervision or other duties are directed within the normal timetabled meal break, an alteration to the provision of the minimum unpaid meal break may be achieved through consultation with staff, provided that in the event of a failure to reach mutual agreement, the following will apply:
  - (i) all staff receive a minimum continuous meal break of 20 minutes per day; and
  - (ii) the total period for meal break is no less than 150 minutes per week; this cannot be averaged over a period longer than a week.
- (c) Where staff in specialist roles are required to perform duties throughout the course of scheduled meal breaks, a meal break of at least 30 minutes shall be provided at an alternative time determined by agreement between the Principal and individual staff members.

#### Paid Rest Pauses

- (a) Full-time Employees shall receive a paid rest pause of 10 minutes' duration in the first half and the second half of each day worked.
- (b) Employees other than full-time who work a minimum of 4 consecutive ordinary hours but no more than 6 consecutive ordinary hours on any one day shall receive a rest pause of 10 minutes' duration. Employees who work in excess of 6 consecutive ordinary hours (excluding the meal break) on any one day shall receive a rest pause of 10 minutes' duration in the first half and the second half of the period worked.
- (c) Such rest pauses shall be taken at such times as will not interfere with continuity of work where continuity is necessary.
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the employer and the employees agree, the rest pauses may be combined.

# 4.3 Professional Development

The parties are committed to enhancing the skills of Employees through the provision of both internal and external professional development and training, within the College's resource capacity, and to recording College provided professional development that occurs on site.

#### 4.4 Appraisal

- 4.4.1 The parties acknowledge that a formative appraisal system provides opportunities for Employees to identify strengths and to set goals and identify training needs.
- 4.4.2 Consideration should be given to the following elements during this process:
  - (a) For Teachers, the AITSL Australian Professional Standards for Teachers including the Australian Teacher Performance and Development Framework;
  - (b) it should be linked with the College's goals and objectives;

- (c) it should be built into the operational practice of the College via training of all staff, which aims to build common values and understandings of the structures and processes;
- (d) it is developmental and focuses on improvement and development, not supervision of individuals;
- (e) it should be directly linked to a clearly articulated statement of agreed expectations of the staff member(s) in the College. The emphasis is on objective data;
- (f) it provides for a variety of information collection processes and sources;
- (g) it needs to be flexible to allow for changes and modification within the stated framework; and
- (h) it makes provision for the allocation of adequate resources to operate the process.

# 4.5 Provision for Students with Special Needs

# 4.5.1 Commitment and Educational Provisions

The College has a long term standing commitment to providing education for students with special needs. Students with special needs include those students ascertained at level 5 or 6 with intellectual impairment, physical impairment, autistic spectrum disorder, hearing impairment, social emotional disorder, and speech and language impairment; or those students with such impairments or disorders who require individual and special educational provision whether ascertained or not. Students with special needs may also include English as a Second Language (ESL) students.

The College seeks to enhance the quality of that educational provision for students with special needs and agrees to implement the following:

#### 4.5.2 Teacher Support

In consultation with, and at the discretion of the relevant Leadership Team member, a Teacher assigned to a class in which student/s with special needs is/are enrolled shall be provided, where practicable with:

- (a) information, and professional training where relevant, regarding the student's needs;
- (b) time release at the beginning of each term (and throughout the year where appropriate) for the designated tasks of:
  - (i) planning for the inclusion of the student in all curriculum areas;
  - (ii) meeting with the parents to develop supportive home/school liaison;
  - (iii) meeting with learning assistants, learning support teacher(s), educational consultants, as relevant; and
  - (iv) planning for camps and excursions;
- (c) on-going time release of a quantum commensurate with the needs of the student and the level of teacher responsibility to enable the teacher to:
  - liaise with special support groups, parents, learning assistants, learning support teachers, educational consultants;
  - (ii) discuss the strengths and weaknesses of programs with others; and
  - (iii) modify the educational program and assessment structures.

# 4.5.3 Learning Teacher Assistant – Learning Support

In consultation with and at the discretion of the relevant Leadership Team member, a Teacher Assistant assigned to assist in the education of students with special needs shall be provided, within one term of appointment where possible, with the following:

- (a) relevant professional training of up to three (3) days duration; and
- (b) time allocation to liaise with teachers and other specialist support staff.

# 4.6 Provisions for Composite Classes

- 4.6.1 The parties acknowledge the additional workload that may be associated with teaching composite classes.
- 4.6.2 Where a teacher is allocated a composite class, timely consultation will occur regarding support the teacher may require.

# 4.7 Class Sizes

- 4.7.1 It is recognised that class size has implications for the work of teachers and as such pertains to the employment relationship.
- 4.7.2 The parties acknowledge that the achievement of educational outcomes for students is influenced by a wide range of factors including student ability, educational programs, pedagogy, resources, time on task, the quality of classroom interactions and relationships and parental attitudes and support. Over the life of the Agreement the College will continue to implement strategies that support teachers with the provision of quality educational programs and sound teaching practices so as to provide students with opportunities to achieve optimal educational outcomes.
- 4.7.3 The College will consider:
  - (a) individual staff preferences, expertise and experience in their allocation of classes;
  - (b) the staffing and resource needs for classes that have a high proportion of students who have definite challenges to their learning because of:
    - (i) socio-economic background;
    - (ii) learning capabilities, including students with identified learning needs;
    - (iii) linguistic background;
    - (iv) cultural background;
  - (c) class size data when making allocations of teachers to classes.
  - (d) making adjustments as appropriate, to address duty of care and Workplace Health and Safety matters; and
  - (e) the particular circumstances, staffing and resource requirements where multi age, composite and practical classes operate so that appropriate support is provided.
- 4.7.4 Targets for Class Sizes
  - (a) Years P 3, 11 and 12: 25-28 students
  - (b) Year 4 10: 28-30 students
- 4.7.5 In emergent circumstances, where there is the possibility of class sizes in excess of these targets, the class arrangements shall be the subject of a timely and consultative process with staff affected in accordance with the consultative principles contained in this Agreement to establish appropriate measures to ameliorate any identified negative impact on student learning and/or teacher workload.
  - With this in mind, the College will continue to consider class staffing and resourcing levels when allocating classes to teachers. They will achieve class sizes that are within targets and balanced with overall school resourcing and budgetary constraints. The school enrolment patterns and demographic trends will also inform decisions about class sizes and resource allocation.
- 4.7.6 The final decision about class sizes and the allocation of classes to teachers is the responsibility of the Principal.

# **PART 5 – WAGES AND SUPERANNUATION**

# 5.1 Wages

- 5.1.1 The parties agree that wage increases included in this Agreement are aimed at providing parity with like Christian Schools (who have achieved comparable wage outcomes to Education Queensland) for all staff and to minimise wage disparity in subsequent wage negotiations.
- 5.1.2 Wages and wage increases will be as set out in Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- 5.1.3 The wage increases prescribed in the <u>Appendix 1</u> of this Agreement will apply from the first full pay period after the effective date contained in the tables.

# 5.2 Superannuation

- 5.2.1 In addition to the wages prescribed in this Agreement, Employees shall be entitled to superannuation benefits in accordance with the *Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992*, as amended from time to time.
- 5.2.2 In addition to the minimum requirements of 5.2.1, the Employer shall make available to all Employees the following options:
  - (a) a superannuation Employer option of 10.25% inclusive of Superannuation Guarantee, when an Employee makes a co-contribution of 2%;
  - (b) a superannuation Employer option of 10.75% inclusive of Superannuation Guarantee, when an Employee makes a co-contribution of 3%;
  - (c) a superannuation Employer option of 11.25% inclusive of Superannuation Guarantee, when an Employee makes a co-contribution of 4%; and
  - (d) a superannuation Employer option of 11.75% inclusive of Superannuation Guarantee, when an Employee makes a co-contribution of 5%.
- 5.2.3 The payments to be made by the Employer in accordance with clause 5.2.2 will be subsumed into any payment mandated by the Superannuation Guarantee legislation, if any such payment is mandated.
- 5.2.4 For avoidance of doubt, the co-contribution arrangements contained in clause 5.2.2 will not operate in a manner which would result in an Employee receiving a total Employer contribution percentage which is less than the legislated mandatory percentage rate of Superannuation Guarantee, as adjusted from time to time, during the life of the Agreement.
- 5.2.5 Where an Employee has taken up one of the co-contribution options contained in clause 5.2.2, which due to a legislative increase to Superannuation Guarantee, results in the total Employer contribution percentage rate being no more than the legislated mandatory percentage rate. Then in such circumstances, the Employer will, at least one month prior to the scheduled increase to Superannuation Guarantee, advise the Employee of the increase to Superannuation Guarantee to allow them the opportunity to decide whether they wish to either alter or withdraw from their nominated co-contribution arrangement.
- 5.2.6 Where an Employee has not advised the Employer of their choice of superannuation fund within twenty-eight (28) days of commencing employment, the Employer will make superannuation payments to the Employee's "stapled fund" as advised by the Australian Tax Office. In absence of the Employee either choosing a fund or having a stapled fund into which the Employer is permitted to make the contributions, the Employer will make contributions on behalf of the Employee into NGS Super as the default fund.
- 5.2.7 The College agrees to include in any induction material to new Employees a prospectus for Colonial First State First Choice Superannuation Fund and the NGS Super, or successor funds.
- 5.2.8 An Employee may nominate in writing to salary sacrifice to any compliant superannuation funds. This arrangement may be altered only once per year with the costs to be met by the Employee.

# 5.3 Salary Packaging

- 5.3.1 Salary Packaging has been made available to Employees at the discretion of the College from 1 January 2004. Administrative Guidelines will be developed by the College and made available to all Employees.
- 5.3.2 At the discretion of the Business Manager and where agreement is reached between the Employer and the Employees, Salary Packaging arrangements may be made between the individual Employee and the Employer.

- 5.3.3 Where such an agreement is reached, the Employee's total salary benefit shall be reduced by an amount equivalent to that agreed between the Employer and Employee plus any relevant tax liability incurred by the Employer.
- 5.3.4 In calculating the total salary benefit the Employer shall include the appropriate salary as per <u>Appendix 1</u> of this Agreement, Leave Loading and Superannuation Guarantee Charge.
- 5.3.5 The Employer reserves the right to outsource the administration of such agreed salary packaging arrangements. Where this occurs the costs will be borne by the Employee in regard to their own package. The College reserves the right to recover any administrative costs.
- 5.3.6 For the purpose of calculating Employee benefits, the following shall apply:
  - (a) the payment of vacation periods and long service leave and other benefits not identified in subclause (b) will be based on the cash component of the salary package; and
  - (b) the payment of superannuation and annual leave loading shall be based on the Employee's wage as prescribed in Appendix 1, prior to any salary packaging arrangements.

#### 5.4 Allowances

- 5.4.1 First Aid Allowance- Employees (excluding Teachers)
  - (a) An Employee (excluding teachers) who holds a current first aid certificate and who is appointed by their Employer to be a First Aid Officer will receive the First Aid Allowance identified in <u>Appendix 1</u>.
  - (b) The first aid qualification obtained or maintained by the Employee (excluding Teachers) must include proficiency in Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation (CPR), in order for the Employer to pay reimbursement of course fees incurred.

#### 5.4.2 Requirement to hold a First Aid Certificate

- (a) The Employer will provide appropriate training or reimburse the course fees associated with obtaining and maintaining the first aid certificate for Employees (excluding teachers) who are designated as First Aid Officers.
- (b) Where the Employer requires an Employee (excluding teachers) to hold a current first aid certificate, the course shall be undertaken in paid work time.
- (c) The first aid qualification obtained or maintained by the Employee (excluding teachers) must include proficiency in Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation (CPR), in order for the Employer to pay reimbursement of course fees incurred.

# 5.4.3 School Officers – Qualifications Allowance

A school officer who holds both a current First Aid certificate and an additional formal qualification relevant to their work, will receive the Qualification Allowance, in accordance with <u>Appendix 1</u>, as follows:

- (a) Level 2 School Officer who holds a Certificate Level III qualification (or higher);
- (b) Level 3 School Officer who holds a Certificate Level (IV) qualification (or higher);
- (c) Level 4 School Officer who holds a Diploma or Associate Diploma level qualification (or higher); and
- (d) Level 5 School Officer who holds a Degree Level qualification (or higher).

#### 5.4.4 Meal Allowance

Where the Employer requires an Employee to undertake more than two hours' overtime after the completion of a full day of work (defined as not less than 7.6 hours), the Employer will provide a meal to the Employee. The exceptions to this are:

- (i) if an Employee could reasonably return home for a meal; or
- (ii) if it is not possible to provide a meal, the Employer will pay a meal allowance of \$16.27 to the Employee.

# 5.4.5 Vehicle Allowance

An Employee (including a Teacher) required by the Employer to use the Employee's motor vehicle in the performance of their duties will be paid \$0.80 per kilometre.

# 5.4.6 Uniform/Protective Clothing – Laundering Allowance

Where an Employee is required to wear a uniform that is either provided by the College, or for which the Employee has received an allowance, the Employee will be entitled to a laundry allowance of \$0.30 per day up to a maximum of \$1.50 per week.

# 5.5 Payment for Higher Duties – School Officers and General Staff

5.5.1 In the event that a School Officer or member of General or Early Learning Centre Staff is required to temporarily act in a higher level role for which they have the requisite skills and qualifications, that employee will be paid the appropriate classification level wage rate for the period they perform the duties of the higher role.

# 5.6 Staff Discount

- 5.6.1 The College will provide a 25% staff discount for school fees for those Employees who have their own children enrolled at the College, including Employees contracted for at least a 12 month period. This discount will be paid on a pro-rata basis for part-time Employees, and term time Employees contracted for at least four school terms.
- 5.6.2 The staff discount applies to children enrolled at the College and not grandchildren of any staff member who are enrolled at the College.

#### **PART 6 – LEAVE ARRANGEMENTS**

# 6.1 Personal/Carer's Leave

An Employee's entitlement to personal/carer's leave is subject to the following conditions:

- 6.1.1 All Employees are entitled, as a minimum, to personal/carer's leave in accordance with the NES.
- 6.1.2 Part time Employees shall accrue personal/carer's leave on a proportional basis, based on hours of service.
- 6.1.3 When an Employee's absence is for more than two (2) days, the Employee is required to give the Employer a doctor's certificate or other reasonably acceptable evidence about the nature and approximate duration of the illness and/or need to provide care or support.
- 6.1.4 Unpaid leave may be accessed by an Employee to continue to care and support a household or an immediate family member who is terminally ill or has a critical or severe injury or illness or a debilitating disease which will require a period of care and support if necessary by agreement with the Employer. An Employer may request a doctor's certificate indicating the nature of the illness and/or the need for ongoing care and support.

#### 6.1.5 Health Check Leave

The College recognises the importance of Employees maintaining healthy lifestyles and regular health checkups. In an effort to foster healthy lifestyles, Employees shall be entitled to use one (1) day per annum of their personal leave to obtain medical advice and/or treatment of a preventative nature. The Employee shall, where practicable, give the Principal two (2) weeks' notice prior to taking health check leave.

# 6.2 Annual Leave

## 6.2.1 Teaching Staff

Annual leave is provided for in the NES. Annual leave provisions shall be calculated in accordance with proportion of salary clause in this Agreement.

# 6.2.2 Employees (Excluding Teachers)

For all Employees other than casuals and Teachers, annual leave entitlements shall be in accordance with the NFS

- 6.2.3 General Provisions Employees (Excluding Teachers)
  - (a) Annual Leave may only be taken during School Holiday Periods, unless the Principal approves otherwise in his/her sole and absolute discretion.
  - (b) A term-time Employee will be entitled to their annual leave from the date that the mid-summer School Holiday Period commences. Where a term-time Employee does not have sufficient accrued Annual Leave to cover the entire School Holiday Period, the term-time Employee will be deemed to be on Unpaid Vacation Leave for the balance of that School Holiday Period.

However, where a term-time Employee and the Principal mutually agree, a term-time Employee may access their accrued Annual Leave at some other time. Any part of a School Holiday Period which is not part of the term-time Employee's Annual Leave is deemed to be Unpaid Vacation Leave.

- 6.2.4 Annual leave loading shall be calculated as follows:
  - (i) the Employee shall receive their ordinary wage rate as prescribed by this Agreement for the period of Annual Leave;
  - (ii) a further amount calculated at 17.5% of the amount referred to in clause 6.2.1 for Teachers and 6.2.2 for all other Employees.

# 6.3 Community Service Leave

- 6.3.1 An Employee may be absent from employment to engage in an eligible community service activity including:
  - (a) jury service that is required by Commonwealth, State or Territory Law;
  - (b) voluntary emergency management activity; or
  - (c) an activity that is of community service nature prescribed by regulations.

- 6.3.2 Voluntary emergency management activity is a voluntary activity that involves dealing with an emergency or natural disaster. The Employee must be a member of a recognised emergency management body (or have a "member-like" association with the body). The body must request the Employee to engage in the activity. The Employer will require the Employee to provide reasonable evidence that supports the Employee being engaged in the eligible community service activity. An Employee is entitled to community service leave for the period during which the Employee engages in eligible community service activity plus reasonable travelling time associated with the activity and reasonable rest time immediately following the activity.
- 6.3.3 Unless the activity is jury service, the Employee's absence must be reasonable in all the circumstances.
- 6.3.4 Community Service Leave is unpaid, except for non-casuals engaged in jury service. Any monies received for jury service will be paid to the Employer on receipt.

# 6.4 Public Holidays

- 6.4.1 In accordance with the NES, an Employee is entitled to be absent from work on a day that is a public holiday as defined in the NES and receive pay equal to their ordinary hours of work for that day.
- 6.4.2 All time worked by any Employee on a public holiday shall be paid for at the rate of double time and a half with a minimum of four (4) hours.
- 6.4.3 For the purposes of this provision, where the rate of wages is a weekly rate, "double time and a-half" shall mean one and one-half day's wages in addition to the prescribed weekly rate, or pro rata if there is more or less than a day.
- 6.4.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of clause 6.4, when an Employee works on a public holiday, the Employee shall be paid at the rate prescribed by clause 6.4 for the holiday or, by agreement between the Employer and the Employee, may be paid at the ordinary rate and given a day off in lieu thereof within 28 days of the holiday occurring: Provided that if an Employee subsequently works on the day in lieu of the deferred public holiday, such Employee shall be paid in accordance with the other provisions of this clause.

#### 6.5 Parental Leave

- 6.5.1 Eligible Employees, other than those with less than twelve (12) months of regular and systematic service, are entitled to unpaid parental leave in accordance with the provisions of the NES. These provide for up to twelve (12) months of unpaid leave, and subject to the relevant provisions contained in the NES, an additional twelve (12) months of unpaid leave after the initial twelve month period.
- 6.5.2 For the purposes of this provision, "continuous service" means service as a full-time or part-time or casual Employee or a combination thereof, but excludes casual service with a break in continuity of more than three months.
- 6.5.3 Employees satisfying the eligibility criteria at 6.5.1 and 6.5.2 will also be entitled to fourteen (14) weeks of paid parental leave, at the rate at which they were paid immediately prior to commencing the leave. This paid leave shall be in addition to any government paid parental leave scheme.
- 6.5.4 This entitlement shall be exclusive of any paid school vacation period and be paid on a pro-rata basis for part-time Employees.
- 6.5.5 The Employee's absence on paid parental leave shall count as service for incremental purposes.
- 6.5.6 The Employee shall provide ten weeks' notice in term time of their intention to return to their employment. Subject to the agreement of the Principal and the provisions of the Fair Work Act, a full time Employee may return to work after parental leave on a part time basis.

#### 6.6 Partner Leave

- 6.6.1 Unpaid partner leave is available to Employees in accordance with the NES.
- 6.6.2 Employees, other than a casual Employee and those who have not completed at least 12 months of continuous services, are entitled to a period of one (1) week paid partner leave. This leave is exclusive of their accrued sick leave and any entitlement to unpaid leave that the Employee has under the NES. The period of paid leave will start from the day their partner begins to give birth or, in the case of adoption, the day of placement of the child. This period of paid leave will be in addition to the Federal Government's Dad and Partner Pay scheme.
- 6.6.3 Time on paid partner leave is incorporated into the Employee's entitlement to up to 52 weeks unpaid leave after their partner gives birth so that the Employee can be the child's primary care-giver.
- 6.6.4 Partner leave may be taken in addition to Personal/Carer's leave under Clause 6.1 of this Agreement.

6.6.5 This entitlement shall be exclusive of any paid school vacation period and be paid on a pro-rata basis for part time Employees

# 6.7 Long Service Leave

- 6.7.1 All Employees will accumulate Long Service leave entitlements at the rate of 1.3 weeks per full time equivalent year of completed service from the date of engagement.
- 6.7.2 Employees who complete seven (7) years of continuous service may access their entitlement to Long Service Leave. After the first seven years, subsequent Long Service Leave may be taken once an Employee has an accrued entitlement of four (4) weeks.
- 6.7.3 Timing of leave will be at a mutually convenient time with reasonable notice given. Reasonable notice should be not less than two full school terms.
- 6.7.4 The minimum period of Long Service Leave to be accessed is four (4) weeks. An Employee may request to take less than four (4) weeks Long Service Leave in exceptional circumstances. Such leave is granted at the discretion of the Principal.
- 6.7.5 Where an Employee is entitled to a period of Long Service Leave, such leave may be taken, by agreement between the Employee and the Principal at the rate of half pay. In such circumstances the length of the Employee's leave would be double the amount nominally due to the Employee.
- 6.7.6 Cashing out of Long Service Leave

Employees who are eligible to access their accruals of long service leave may apply to the Employer, in writing, to "cash out" a proportion of such leave instead of taking leave. An application to cash out long service is subject to the following conditions:

- (a) at least five (5) weeks must be retained at any point of time to use as long service leave;
- (b) the Employee may apply to combine the cash out of some long service leave with the taking of some long service leave. In this case, the time taken in long service leave may be deducted from the minimum retained five (5) weeks leave, as prescribed in sub-clause 6.7.6 (a) above;
  - For example, 13 weeks accrued long service leave may be taken as eight (8) weeks cashed out, three (3) weeks in leave actually taken and two (2) weeks long service leave retained for another time.
- (c) the "cashing out" of long service leave may only occur once in any five (5) year period;
- (d) the notice period required to cash out some long service leave only is a minimum of four (4) weeks (or less by mutual agreement with the Employer);
- (e) the Employee should seek independent financial advice prior to making application to "cash out" their long service leave; and
- (f) An arrangement to cash out Long Service Leave must be recorded by way of a written agreement before any payment is made.

# 6.8 Examination and Study Leave

Application may be made for leave with pay for the actual time taken to attend examinations, provided that the course being taken is directly related to the Employee's role in the College. Leave would normally be either a morning or afternoon College session, as appropriate, on the day of the examination, plus time for essential travel.

Application may be made for leave without pay for study purposes prior to an examination, provided that the course being taken is relevant to the Employee's role in the College. Leave would normally be for a day.

# 6.9 Compassionate Leave

An Employee is entitled to:

- (a) at least three (3) days paid compassionate leave for each permissible occasion when a member of the person's immediate family or household:
  - (i) contracts or develops a personal illness that poses a serious threat to his or her life, for the purposes of spending time with that member; or
  - (ii) sustains a personal injury that poses a serious threat to his or her life, for the purposes of spending time with that member; or

- (iii) dies;
- (b) if the Employee reasonably requires extra time to travel to and from the funeral or other ceremony for the death, an amount of unpaid compassionate leave equal to the time reasonably required for the travel;
- (c) compassionate leave may be taken as a single three (3) day period, three (3) separate one day periods, or as otherwise agreed with the Employer; and
- (d) if the permissible occasion is the contraction or development of a personal illness, or sustained the personal injury, the Employee may take the compassionate leave for that occasion at any time while the illness or injury persists.
- (e) The entitlement to Compassionate Leave as prescribed by this clause is inclusive of the minimum entitlement to *compassionate leave* as prescribed by the NES.

# 6.10 Emergency and Natural Disaster Leave

- 6.10.1 The parties to this Agreement recognise the importance of keeping the College open wherever possible during times of natural disasters and, should the College need to be closed for a time, to reopen it as soon as possible.
- 6.10.2 Employees will assist with keeping schools open to support students, families and the community and to provide continuity of teaching/learning as far as is feasible and safe to do so. They will attend work unless prevented by circumstances described in clause 6.10.3 or are otherwise on approved leave. Subject to clause 6.10.3 Employees may be asked to assist with preparing for a reopening of a damaged school.
- 6.10.3 An Employee who is prevented from attending the Employee's normal place of employment because of floods, cyclonic disturbances, severe storms, or bush-fires (or any other comparable natural disaster or emergency) shall be granted a maximum of five (5) days per calendar year non-cumulative paid leave in the following circumstances:
  - (a) when they have experienced extreme loss or trauma; or
  - (b) where the Employee must, of necessity, remain at home to safeguard the Employee's family or property; or
  - (c) where the Employee must remain at home to have temporary repairs effected, restore or replace essential belongings, complete necessary clean-up for safety or to enable occupation of residence etcetera; or
  - (d) where an Employee must remain at home because transport services and facilities are disrupted or discontinued due to weather or flood conditions; or
  - (e) where the Employee is away from their usual residence and is unavoidably delayed in returning to their place of employment due to identified and specific disruptions to transport services and facilities; or
  - (f) where the Employee is required to return home before the Employee's usual ceasing time to ensure personal safety, the protection of the Employee's family and property or because the availability of transport services and facilities may be disrupted or discontinued due to weather or flood conditions.
- 6.10.4 Access to the leave as in clause 6.10.3 will be coordinated by the principal or their nominee.
- 6.10.5 The principal will make every effort to clarify contact and communication procedures to be used at times of emergencies.
- 6.10.6 The principal may consider additional paid leave in exceptional circumstances or where an Employee is affected by more than one (1) disaster or emergency in any year.

# 6.10.7 Leave for attendance at emergencies

- (a) An Employee who is a member of the State Emergency Service, voluntary member of a local firefighting unit, members of a Rural Fire Brigade, auxiliary of a fire brigade, honorary ambulance officer or St John ambulance volunteer shall be granted paid leave when called out for emergencies, to fight local fires or where an emergency situation or state of disaster has been declared under the *Public Safety Preservation Act 1986 (Queensland)* or the *Disaster Management Act 2003 (Queensland)*.
- (b) Paid leave is not available for training purposes, however unpaid leave may be granted at the College's discretion.

#### 6.11 Domestic Violence Leave and Measures

#### 6.11.1 Leave

- (a) An Employee, who is experiencing domestic violence, will have access to a maximum of five (5) days per year non-cumulative of paid special Domestic Violence Leave in order to address related matters including, but not limited to:
  - (i) attending medical and / or counselling appointments;
  - (ii) sourcing alternative accommodation;
  - (iii) accessing legal advice;
  - (iv) attending legal proceedings;
  - (v) organising alternative care for members of their immediate family or household
  - (vi) organising alternative education arrangements for their children;
  - (vii) rebuilding support networks; and
  - (viii) other issues related to the personal crisis.
- (b) This leave may be taken as consecutive or single days or as a fraction of a day and all reasonable requests will be approved. If their Domestic Violence Leave entitlement is exhausted, an Employee may access personal leave or long service leave for the purposes of this provision.
- (c) Employees can also access existing leave entitlements (including but not limited to the abovementioned purposes), without the usual notice requirements.
- (d) It is not mandatory for the Employee to have exhausted other forms of paid leave prior to accessing Domestic Violence Leave.

# 6.11.2 Measures

- (a) No adverse action will be taken against an Employee on the basis of domestic violence victim status or if their attendance or performance at work suffers as a result of experiencing domestic violence.
- (b) All personal information concerning domestic violence will be kept confidential in line with the Employer's Policy and relevant legislation. No information will be kept on an Employee's personnel file without their written permission.
- (c) The Employer will work collaboratively with the Employee who is experiencing domestic violence to develop protocols to restrict access to the Employee's personal information and contact details.
- (d) The Employer will approve any reasonable request from an Employee experiencing domestic violence for:
  - (i) changes to their span of hours or pattern or hours and/or shift patterns; or
  - (ii) job redesign or changes to duties.
  - (iii)

# 6.12 Union Training Leave

6.12.1 Upon written application by an Employee to an Employer such application being endorsed by the union and giving to the Employer at least 2 months' notice, such Employee shall be granted up to three (3) working days leave (non-cumulative) on ordinary pay to attend courses and seminars conducted by the union.

For the purposes of this clause, "ordinary pay" means at the ordinary fortnightly rate paid to the Employee exclusive of any allowance for travelling time and fares.

- 6.12.2 The granting of such leave shall be subject to the following conditions:
  - (a) An Employee must have at least two (2) years' uninterrupted service with the Employer prior to such leave being granted.
  - (b) The granting of such leave shall be subject to the reasonable convenience of the Employer so that the operations of the Employer will not be unduly affected.
  - (c) No Employee shall be granted leave exceeding the duration of the course or seminar to be attended.
  - (d) No Employee shall be granted a second or subsequent period of leave prior to the expiration of three (3) years from the date of commencement of the last period of such leave granted by the Employer.
  - (e) The scope, content and level of the course or seminar shall be such as to contribute to a better understanding of industrial relations within the Employer's operations, and in particular, a better understanding of the Agreement and industrial issues impinging upon the professional life of Employees in the non-government sector.
  - (f) In granting such paid leave, the Employer is not responsible for any additional costs except the payment of extra remuneration where relieving arrangements are instituted to cover the absence of the Employee.
  - (g) Such paid leave will not affect other leave granted to Employees under this Agreement.

# PART 7 - SIGNATORIES

Witness

Witness

Signed for and on behalf of Suncoast Christian College Cnr Schubert Rd & Keil Mountain Rd, Woombye QLD 4559

Independent Education Union of Australia – Queensland and Northern Territory Branch 346 Turbot Street, Spring Hill QLD 4000

Jul Mattishe (Signature)
GREGORY WILLIAM ROY MATTISK
•
*
PRINCIPAL (Position)
Balant
(Signature)
U'
MOSES FALEAFFA (Full Name)
Blowy (Signature)
BRADLEY RAMS MY HAYES (Full Name)
;
ASSISTANT SECRETARY (Position)
h estion)
**
, (Signature)

(Full Name)

DEVIN

KAREN ELIZABETH

Appendix 1
Wages and Allowances

TEACHERS
Effective from first full pay period after:

		1-7-2	021	1-7-2	1-7-2022		.023	1-7-2024	
Increase		2.5%*		2.5%		2.5%		2.5%	
Classification	New classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Band 2, Step 1	Graduate 1	2,902.67	75,469.50	2,975.24	77,356.20	3,049.62	79,290.10	3,125.86	81,272.35
Band 2, Step 2	Proficient 1	3,044.58	79,159.00	3,120.69	81,138.00	3,198.71	83,166.50	3,278.68	85,245.66
Band 2, Step 3	Proficient 2	3,189.13	82,917.32	3,268.86	84,990.25	3,350.58	87,115.01	3,434.34	89,292.89
Band 2, Step 4	Proficient 3	3,339.15	86,817.90	3,422.63	88,988.30	3,508.19	91,213.00	3,595.90	93,493.33
Band 3, Step 1	Proficient 4	3,476.91	90,399.60	3,563.83	92,659.60	3,652.93	94,976.10	3,744.25	97,350.50
Band 3, Step 2	Proficient 5	3,619.64	94,110.58	3,710.13	96,463.34	3,802.88	98,874.92	3,897.95	101,346.79
Band 3, Step 3	Proficient 6	3,764.02	97,864.50	3,858.12	100,311.10	3,954.57	102,818.90	4,053.44	105,389.37
Band 3, Step 4	Proficient 7	3,853.28	100,185.29	3,949.61	102,689.92	4,048.35	105,257.17	4,149.56	107,888.60
Band 3, Step 5	Proficient 8	4,029.93	104,778.20	4,130.68	107,397.70	4,233.95	110,082.60	4,339.79	112,834.67
Senior Teacher	ST	4,205.58	109,344.95	4,310.71	112,078.57	4,418.48	114,880.53	4,528.94	117,752.54
HAT	HAT	4,404.54	114,518.00	4,514.65	117,380.95	4,627.52	120,315.47	4,743.21	123,323.36
LEAD	LEAD	4,808.62	125,024.00	4,928.83	128,149.60	5,052.05	131,353.34	5,178.35	134,637.17

# SCHOOL OFFICERS

	1-7-2021		1-7-2	1-7-2022		1-7-2023		2024
Increase	2.5%		2.5	2.5%		2.5%		5%
Classification	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual
Level 2, Step 1	2,126.36	55,285.43	2,179.52	56,667.56	2,234.01	58,084.25	2,289.86	59,536.36
Level 2, Step 2	2,176.09	56,578.36	2,230.49	57,992.82	2,286.26	59,442.64	2,343.41	60,928.71
Level 2, Step 3	2,198.57	57,162.71	2,253.53	58,591.78	2,309.87	60,056.57	2,367.61	61,557.99
Level 3, Step 1	2,294.32	59,652.34	2,351.68	61,143.64	2,410.47	62,672.23	2,470.73	64,239.04
Level 3, Step 2	2,334.17	60,688.51	2,392.53	62,205.72	2,452.34	63,760.86	2,513.65	65,354.88
Level 3, Step 3	2,374.65	61,740.77	2,434.01	63,284.29	2,494.86	64,866.40	2,557.23	66,488.06
Level 3, Step 4	2,395.84	62,291.71	2,455.73	63,849.00	2,517.12	65,445.23	2,580.05	67,081.36
Level 4, Step 1	2,487.89	64,685.09	2,550.09	66,302.21	2,613.84	67,959.77	2,679.18	69,658.76
Level 4, Step 2	2,500.95	65,024.67	2,563.47	66,650.28	2,627.56	68,316.54	2,693.25	70,024.45
Level 4, Step 3	2,566.67	66,733.45	2,630.84	68,401.78	2,696.61	70,111.83	2,764.02	71,864.62
Level 5, Step 1	2,653.27	68,985.06	2,719.60	70,709.69	2,787.59	72,477.43	2,857.28	74,289.37
Level 5, Step 2	2,717.55	70,656.43	2,785.49	72,422.84	2,855.13	74,233.41	2,926.51	76,089.24
Level 5, Step 3	2,782.87	72,354.55	2,852.44	74,163.41	2,923.75	76,017.49	2,996.84	77,917.93

# SCHOOL OFFICERS (continued)

	1-7-2	1-7-2021 2.5%		2022	1-7-2	2023	1-7-2024	
Increase	2.5			2.5%		2.5%		5%
Classification	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual	Fortnightly	Annual
Level 6, Step 1	2,871.32	74,654.34	2,943.10	76,520.70	3,016.68	78,433.71	3,092.10	80,394.56
Level 6, Step 2	3,027.91	78,725.69	3,103.61	80,693.83	3,181.20	82,711.18	3,260.73	84,778.96
Level 6, Step 3	3,183.99	82,783.72	3,263.59	84,853.31	3,345.18	86,974.64	3,428.81	89,149.01
Level 6, Step 4	3,343.31	86,925.95	3,426.89	89,099.09	3,512.56	91,326.57	3,600.37	93,609.74
Level 6, Step 5	3,495.53	90,883.73	3,582.92	93,155.82	3,672.49	95,484.71	3,764.30	97,871.83
Level 7, Step 1	3,541.30	92,073.70	3,629.83	94,375.54	3,720.57	96,734.93	3,813.59	99,153.30
Level 7, Step 2	3,607.12	93,785.14	3,697.30	96,129.77	3,789.73	98,533.02	3,884.47	100,996.34
Level 7, Step 3	3,672.84	95,493.92	3,764.66	97,881.27	3,858.78	100,328.30	3,955.25	102,836.51
Level 7, Step 4	3,737.75	97,181.38	3,831.19	99,610.91	3,926.97	102,101.18	4,025.14	104,653.71
Level 7, Step 5	3,802.75	98,871.40	3,897.81	101,343.18	3,995.26	103,876.76	4,095.14	106,473.68

# **MISCELLANEOUS WORKERS**

	1-7-2	2021	1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024	
Increase	2.5	5%	2.5	2.5%		2.5%		5%
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Level 1	1,967.05	51,143.20	2,016.22	52,421.77	2,066.63	53,732.32	2,118.29	55,075.63
Level 2	1,970.23	51,226.02	2,019.49	52,506.67	2,069.97	53,819.33	2,121.72	55,164.82
Level 3	2,059.82	53,555.23	2,111.31	54,894.11	2,164.09	56,266.46	2,218.20	57,673.12
Level 4	2,196.51	57,109.21	2,251.42	58,536.94	2,307.71	60,000.36	2,365.40	61,500.37
Cleaner (Day)	1,970.23	51,226.02	2,019.49	52,506.67	2,069.97	53,819.33	2,121.72	55,164.82
Shift Cleaner (Day + 15%)	2,252.56	58,566.55	2,308.87	60,030.72	2,366.60	61,531.48	2,425.76	63,069.77
Caretaker	1,970.33	51,228.68	2,019.59	52,509.40	2,070.08	53,822.13	2,121.83	55,167.69
Leading Hand < 15 staff	49.37	1,283.61	50.60	1,315.70	51.87	1,348.59	53.17	1,382.30

# BUILDING PRODUCTS MANUFACTURE & MINOR MAINTENANCE WORKERS Effective from first full pay period after:

	1-7-2	2021	1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024	
Increase	2.5	2.5% 2.5%		2.5%		2.5%		
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Labourer	1,843.11	47,920.80	1,889.19	49,118.82	1,936.42	50,346.79	1,984.83	51,605.46
Tradesperson	2,241.76	58,285.81	2,297.81	59,742.95	2,355.25	61,236.52	2,414.13	62,767.44

# **RETAIL WORKERS**

	1-7-2021		1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024	
Increase	2.5%		2.5%		2.5%		2.5%	
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight Annua		Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Shop Assistant	2,097.15	54,525.95	2,149.58	55,889.10	2,203.32	57,286.33	2,258.40	58,718.49
1st Level Supervisor	2,140.97 55,665.19		2,194.49	57,056.82	2,249.36	58,483.24	2,305.59	59,945.32
2nd Level Supervisor	2,198.57	57,162.71	2,253.53	58,591.78	2,309.87	60,056.57	2,367.61	61,557.99

# **MOTOR DRIVERS**

	1-7-2	1-7-2021 1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024		
Increase	2.5	5%	2.5%		2.5%		2.5%	
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Cleaner/Greaser	1,925.39	50,060.08	1,973.52	51,311.58	2,022.86	52,594.37	2,073.43	53,909.23
Bus Driver > 25 Persons	2,078.85	54,049.99	2,130.82	55,401.24	2,184.09	56,786.27	2,238.69	58,205.93

# **GREENKEEPING WORKERS**

	1-7-2	2021	1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024		
Increase	2.5%		2.5	2.5%		2.5%		2.5%	
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	
Level 1 up to 6 months	1,873.24	48,704.31	1,920.07	49,921.92	1,968.08	51,169.97	2,017.28	52,449.21	
Level 2	1,993.27	51,825.03	2,043.10	53,120.65	2,094.18	54,448.67	2,146.53	55,809.88	
Level 3	2,054.47	53,416.13	2,105.83	54,751.54	2,158.47	56,120.32	2,212.44	57,523.33	
Level 4	2,241.76	58,285.81	2,297.81	59,742.95	2,355.25	61,236.52	2,414.13	62,767.44	
Level 5	2,294.32	59,652.34	2,351.68	61,143.64	2,410.47	62,672.23	2,470.73	64,239.04	
Level 6	2,442.84	63,513.82	2,503.91	65,101.66	2,566.51	66,729.20	2,630.67	68,397.43	

# EARLY LEARNING CENTRE STAFF (EXCLUDING TEACHERS) Effective from first full pay period after:

	1-7-2	1-7-2021		1-7-2022		2023	1-7-2024	
Increase	Vari	ous	2.5	2.5%		2.5%		%
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
Childcare Assistant Level 1	1,867.04	48,543.00	1,913.71	49,756.58	1,961.56	51,000.49	2,010.60	52,275.50
Childcare Assistant Level 2	1,934.69	50,302.00	1,983.06	51,559.55	2,032.64	52,848.54	2,083.45	54,169.75
Childcare Assistant Level 3	2,030.73	52,799.00	2,081.50	54,118.98	2,133.54	55,471.95	2,186.87	56,858.75
Childcare Assistant Level 4	2,097.04	54,523.00	2,149.46	55,886.08	2,203.20	57,283.23	2,258.28	58,715.31
Childcare Assistant Level 5^	2,173.69	56,516.00	2,228.03	57,928.90	2,283.74	59,377.12	2,340.83	60,861.55
Group Leader Level 1^^	2,274.69	59,142.00	2,331.56	60,620.55	2,389.85	62,136.06	2,449.59	63,689.47
Group Leader Level 2	2,305.85	59,952.00	2,363.49	61,450.80	2,422.58	62,987.07	2,483.14	64,561.75
Group Leader Level 3	2,337.00	60,762.00	2,395.43	62,281.05	2,455.31	63,838.08	2,516.69	65,434.03
Group Leader Level 4	2,415.27	62,797.00	2,475.65	64,366.93	2,537.54	65,976.10	2,600.98	67,625.50
Assistant Director Level 1*	2,415.27	62,797.00	2,475.65	64,366.93	2,537.54	65,976.10	2,600.98	67,625.50
Assistant Director Level 2	2,430.27	63,187.00	2,491.03	64,766.68	2,553.30	66,385.84	2,617.13	68,045.49
Director Level 1**	2,827.69	73,520.00	2,898.38	75,358.00	2,970.84	77,241.95	3,045.12	79,173.00
Director Level 2	2,886.50	75,049.00	2,958.66	76,925.23	3,032.63	78,848.36	3,108.44	80,819.56
Director Level 3	2,942.88	76,515.00	3,016.46	78,427.88	3,091.87	80,388.57	3,169.16	82,398.29

<sup>^</sup> Childcare Assistant Level 5 is applicable to Diploma qualified assistants.

<sup>^^</sup> Group Leader – 2 year qualified (Year 1)

<sup>\*</sup> Assistant Director – 2 year qualified (Year 1)

<sup>\*\*</sup> Director – 3 year qualified (Year 1)

# SCHOOL OFFICERS, GENERAL STAFF & EARLY LEARNING CENTRE STAFF – ALLOWANCES (BY APPOINTMENT ONLY) Effective from first full pay period after:

	1-7-2021		1-7-2022		1-7-2023		1-7-2024	
Increase	2.5%		2.5%		2.5%		2.5%	
Classification	Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight Annual		Fortnight	Annual	Fortnight	Annual
First aid allowance	30.16	784.04	30.91	803.64	31.68	823.74	32.47	844.33
Qualification Allowance (School Officers Only)	84.87	2,206.62	86.99	2,261.79	89.17	2,318.33	91.40	2,376.29

Appendix 2 School Officer Classification Matrix

Competency of Employee					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Competency at this level involves application of knowledge and skills to a range of tasks and roles	Competency at this level involves application of knowledge with depth in some areas and a broad range of skills		Competency at this level involves self-directed application of knowledge with substantial depth in some areas	Competency at this level involves self-directed development and application of professional knowledge with substantial depth in some areas	Competency at this level involves the use of initiative in self-directed development and application of expert knowledge with extensive recognised expertise in some areas
There is a defined range of contexts where the choice of actions required is clear	There is a range of roles and tasks in a variety of contexts	There is a wide variety of tasks and roles in a variety of contexts.	A range of technical and/or other skills are applied to roles and functions in both varied and highly specific contexts.	A broad range of professional skills are applied to roles and functions in both varied and highly specific contexts.	A breadth and depth of professional skills are applied to roles and functions in both varied and highly specific contexts.
There is limited complexity of choice	There is some complexity in the extent and choice of actions required	There is complexity in the ranges and choice of actions required		A proportion of competencies involve complex, specialized or professional functions.	A high proportion of competencies involve significant scope and/or complex, specialized or professional functions.
Competencies are normally checked within well-established routines, methods and procedures	Competencies are normally used within routines, methods and procedures	Competencies are normally used within a variety of routines, methods and procedures	Competencies are normally used independently and both routinely and non-routinely.	Competencies are used independently and are substantially non-routine with initiative being exercised in the application of professional practices	Duties of an innovative and/or critical nature are undertaken without professional direction and initiative is exercised in the application of professional practices
Limited discretion and judgement about possible actions is involved	Some discretion and judgement are involved in selection of equipment, work organisation, services, actions and achieving outcomes within time constraints.	Discretion and judgement are required for self and/or others in planning, selection of equipment, work organisation, services actions and achieving outcomes within time constraints.	Discretion and judgement are required in planning and selecting appropriate equipment, service techniques and work organisation for self and/or others.	Significant discretion and judgement are required in planning, design, professional, technical or supervisory functions related to services, operations or processes for self and/or others.	Significant discretion and independent judgement are required within constraints set by management.

Supervision of Employees' \	Supervision of Employees' Work					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7	
Works under direct and/or routine supervision depending on function.	Works under limited supervision.	Work is carried out under general supervision.	Works under general supervision and/or broad guidance depending on function.	Works under broad guidance.	Work is usually performed under general guidance with limited or no professional supervision.	
Work is intermittently checked.	Work may be checked in relation to overall progress			Work is usually measured in terms of the achievement of stated objectives to agreed standards.	The general quality of work is monitored by school management and is subject to stated objectives and professional standards.	
May take the form of general guidance where working in teams is involved.	May take the form of broad guidance.	Progress and outcomes sought are under general guidance.		May be less direct than at lower levels and usually be related to task methodology and work practices.		
May involve detailed instructions in some situations;	May involve a level of autonomy when working in teams.			May involve a level of autonomy in accordance with a broad plan or budget strategy.		

Supervision of Others					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
An Employee at this level will have no supervisory responsibilities	Peer assistance may be provided to others.	The work of others may be supervised			
	An Employee may have limited responsibility for guidance of the work of others	Responsibility for the work and organisation of others in limited areas.	Responsibility for the planning and management of the work of others may be involved	Responsibility for the supervision and monitoring of the work of others and of workflow in the area of responsibility may be involved.	Responsibility for the setting and achieving of objectives by a work section and its staff may be involved.
An experienced Employee may assist others by providing peer support in the completion of routine tasks	Team co-ordination may be required	Teams may be guided or facilitated.		Leadership and development of teams and responsibility for outcomes may be required.	
		Training of subordinate staff may be required.	Supervision and training of lower level staff may be involved.		Responsibility for assessment, training and development and performance counselling of staff may be required.

Levels 1 to 7 Qualifications Matrix					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Junior Certificate is the minimum formal qualification. No experience is required.	Tertiary qualifications at Certificate level or equivalent qualifications relevant to the position may be required or such knowledge, qualifications and experience that are deemed by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position.	Tertiary qualifications at Certificate level or equivalent qualifications relevant to the position may be required or such knowledge, qualifications and experience that are deemed by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position.	Tertiary qualifications at Associate Diploma/Diploma level or equivalent qualifications relevant to the position may be required by the Employer or knowledge, qualifications and experience that are determined by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position.	Relevant formal qualifications at degree level are required.	Formal qualifications at degree level are required, along with relevant post graduate qualifications or extensive and relevant experience as required by the Employer to reflect higher levels of professional outcomes.

# TYPICAL DUTIES/SKILLS

# **Employee Assisting Student Learning**

Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Assist developmentally appropriate student learning, either individually or in groups, under the direct supervision of an academic staff member where limited discretion and judgement are involved.  Under direct supervision of a higher level officer or members of the academic staff prepare and clear away materials for display/use in classrooms or libraries.  Perform within wellestablished routines tasks associated with the mass production of printed material including collating, stapling, binding, folding, cutting, etc.  Under direct and /or routine supervision, perform tasks of limited complexity, associated with classroom learning experiences, such as assisting teachers in preparing, implementing and supervising learning programs.  Support students in relation to their physical needs.	Assist developmentally appropriate student learning, either individually or in groups, where some discretion and judgement are involved in evaluating and assessing (under the supervision of an academic staff member(s)) the learning needs of students. Within routines, methods and procedures carry out liaison between the school, the student and the student's family where some discretion and judgement are involved. Support students in relation to their physical needs where some discretion and judgement are involved.	Assist developmentally appropriate student learning, either individually or in groups, under the general supervision of an academic staff member(s). Employees at this level are required to exercise discretion and judgement to modify education programmes to meet the learning needs of specific students.  Carry out liaison between the school, the student and the student's family where discretion and judgement are required in relation to planning, actions and achieving outcomes.  Within a variety of routines, methods and procedures provide significant assistance in the enrolment, family liaison and placement of overseas students.	Apply a range of technical and other skills involving the self-directed application of knowledge gained through formal studies/qualifications applicable to this level or knowledge and experience that are determined by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position. This may include: developing the framework for and providing the instruction to students (within a structured learning environment) under the general supervision of an academic staff member(s); providing pastoral ministry and support for students.  Under broad guidance, supervise the operations of the school's processes and activities in relation to overseas students. This may include: enrolment; family liaison; and placement.	Apply a range of professional knowledge gained through successful completion of an appropriate undergraduate degree. This may include: the gathering, analysis and interpretation of data; or preparation of reports and the consequent giving of advice to other professional staff to assist student learning; or providing pastoral ministry; or providing counselling and/or guidance support for students.  Provide professional advice to staff and students in the officer's area of expertise or qualification.	Undertake more complex professional activities involving the selection and application, based on professional judgement, of new and existing techniques and methodologies requiring the exercise of professional independence combined with competence derived from extensive experience and/or additional study.  Undertake supervisory responsibilities which may include on the job training, staff assessment and performance counselling in relation to staff in lower level positions.  Operate and be accountable for the quality of output of a section or function within the school.

Laboratory Employees					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Provide science program assistance where limited discretion and judgement are involved  Maintain science equipment, materials and specimens not requiring a depth of knowledge or technical skills.  Under the direct supervision of an academic staff member(s) prepare and maintain laboratory teaching areas including routine setting up and dismantling of items of equipment for use in experimental, observational and teaching activities  Assist in the demonstration of experiments and scientific equipment under the direct supervision of an academic staff member(s).	Provide science program assistance where some discretion and judgement are involved.  Assist in the design / demonstration of experiments under supervision of an academic staff member(s) where some discretion and judgement are involved.  Under direction, prepare, maintain, organize, set-up and dismantle equipment and materials for routine experiments or student projects and dispose of waste materials.  Peer assistance and/or guidance may be provided for other assistants in a laboratory.  Under direction and within existing routines, methods and procedures, prepare, maintain and dispense stock solutions, simple chemical mixtures and compounds, cultures or similar materials.	Responsibility for and/or training of subordinate staff in limited areas may be required.  Design and demonstrate experiments, within a variety of routines and procedures, under the supervision of an academic staff member(s) where discretion and judgement are required.  Where there is complexity in the range and choice of action and discretion and judgement are required: prepare, maintain and dispense solutions, chemical mixtures, compounds and cultures; prepare, maintain, organise, set-up and dismantle equipment and material for experiments.	Apply a range of technical and other skills involving the self-directed application of knowledge gained through formal studies/qualifications applicable to this level or knowledge and experience that are determined by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position. This may include: designing laboratory experiments; and appropriate responsibility for the application of workplace health and safety requirements in the laboratory	Apply a range of professional knowledge gained through successful completion of an appropriate undergraduate degree.  Operate (at a level consistent with the qualifications required) a laboratory. This may (or may not) include responsibility for the supervision, monitoring and training of staff in lower level positions.  Administer the allocation and monitoring of resources in the laboratory.  Support Employees reporting to the position in policies to be followed, methods to be used and standards to be observed.  Provide professional advice to staff and students in the officer's area of expertise.  Formulate procedural policy and guidelines in the Employee's area of responsibility; submit recommendations for decision and prepare supporting statements as necessary.	Apply a range of professional knowledge gained through successful completion of an appropriate undergraduate degree and post graduate qualifications and/or other professional development and/or industry experience.  Responsibility for the operation of a laboratory which provides complex and varied services. This may (or may not) include responsibility for the supervision, monitoring and training of professional staff and staff in lower level positions.  Manage the allocation and monitoring of resources in the laboratory.  Responsibility for direction and support of Employees reporting to the position in policies to be followed, methods to be used and standards to be observed.  Provide subject matter expertise and/or policy advice across a range of programs or activities undertaken by the organizational area. Formulate policies and provide specialist advice on policy development to senior management.

Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Use keyboard skills to produce a document from written text using a standard format.  Receive and deal with enquiries within wellestablished routines, including the provision of general information and assistance to the public, parents, students and other Employees.  Perform a range of general clerical duties at a basic level, for example, filing, handling mail, maintaining records.  Operate within wellestablished routines, office equipment, such as, computer, photocopier, facsimile, binding machine, guillotine, laminator, franking machine, calculators, switchboard, etc.  Under the direct	Carry out a wide range of secretarial and clerical duties at an advanced level, including shorthand, typing, word processing and maintaining manual and computerized records.  Respond to enquiries from staff, students, parents and the general public and address issues in accordance with routines, methods and procedures.  Enter financial data into computer and prepare financial and management reports for review and authorization by senior management.  Prepare and process payroll transactions within routines, methods and procedures.  Within routines, methods and procedures, provide administrative support to senior management;	Provide administrative support to senior management of a school where discretion and judgement are required, including: taking minutes; shorthand; organizing appointments and diaries; initiating and handling correspondence (which may include confidential correspondence); monitoring telephone calls; and establishing and/or maintaining working filing systems.  Within a variety of routines, methods and procedures apply inventory and purchasing control procedures, prepare monthly summaries of debtors and creditors ledger transactions and reconcile these.  Apply knowledge of advanced functions of computer software	Provide executive support to senior management and associated committees concerning designated aspects of school management.  Direct and supervise the work of administrative/clerical and/or other staff.  Under broad guidance, supervise the operations of the school's office and other administrative activities, in the areas of enrolment, equipment and statistical staffing returns.  Under broad guidance, supervise the operations of the school's processes and activities in relation to overseas students. This may include: enrolment; family liaison; and placement.  Prepare the accounts of the school to operating	Operate and be responsible for an autonomous section and all its operations.  Provide professional advice to staff and students in the officer's area of expertise.  Monitor and analyse regular management information, such as staffing and financial resource usage; ensure that associated information systems are maintained and that regular reports are provided to management.  Provide financial, policy, or planning advice which may include providing reports, statistical surveys and advice on regulations and procedures.  Monitor expenditure against a budget at a school level, draft financial forecasts / budgets at organizational level and / or prepare complex financial	Supervise staff including implementation and participation in induction, training, review, counselling and appraisal  Manage the work of administrative officers and other staff, assigning and outlining the work, advising on administrative problems and revising work for accuracy and adequacy.  Identify policies and procedures requiring review or re-development, and define relevant issues. Provide written reports to the school executive on complex matters, suggesting alternative courses of action and analysing the implications of each alternative.  Provide financial, policy and planning advice and investigate, interpret or evaluate information for
supervision of the principal or nominee, contact parents, students and/or others in relation to school attendance and related matters.  Under the direct supervision of the principal or nominee assist with the arrangement of group meetings, morning teas,	arrange appointments and diaries; and prepare correspondence.  Within routines, methods and procedures, prepare and dispatch statements to debtors and payments to creditors, follow up on unpaid accounts; prepare bank reconciliations and reconcile accounts to	packages and to manage data i.e. modify fields of information, develop new databases or spreadsheet models; or graph previously prepared spreadsheets.  From verbal or rough handwritten instructions;	statement stage and assist in the formulation of period and year-end entries.  Provide advice requiring knowledge of policies and / or the interpretation of rules or regulations within their area of operation.  Assist in developing policy and procedures relating to	reports.  Administer programs with a range of tasks such as advice on financial implications, interpretation of information, assistance and advice concerning complex issues.  Prepare correspondence which is complex, original	the guidance of staff or clients.  Be substantively involved in the construction of annual and forward planning school budgets  Manage the operations of a discrete organizational area, program or administrative function.

Administration Employees					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
meetings of parents and external parties, parent/teacher nights etc.  Carry out minor cash transactions including receipting, balancing and banking.  Monitor and maintain stock levels of stationery/materials for office/department within established parameters including reordering.  Within well-established routines, sort, prepare and record documents (e.g. invoices, cheques, correspondence) on a daily basis; file such documents in the appropriate system.  Within well-established routines, receive and distribute incoming mail collect outgoing mail, maintain mail registers and records and collate and dispatch documents for bulk handling.  Perform, within well-established routines, tasks associated with the mass production of printed material including collating, stapling, binding, folding, cutting, etc.	balance; maintain wage and salary records.  Maintain petty cash float and expenses for accounting purposes  Assist in the preparation of internal and external publications.  Assist in the enrolment function including handling initial enquiries and arranging interviews.  Under supervision, prepare Government and Statutory Authority returns for authorization by senior management.  Use software application packages for personal computers to create database file structures; and spreadsheets/work sheets.  Under direction and within routines, methods and procedures: draft agenda for meetings; assemble supporting documents for informal meetings; take and produce minutes.  Draft and type routine correspondence from brief oral or written instructions. Respond to requests for information including drafting routine correspondence in reply.	answer non-standard executive correspondence, prepare papers, briefing notes, or other written material.  Utilizing a variety of routines, methods and procedures, calculate and maintain wage and salary records; perform routine classification determinations; and process resignations, retirements and redundancies in accordance with relevant award entitlements.  Within a variety of routines, methods and procedures provide significant assistance in the preparation of: financial information to trial balance; budgets; cash flow records; balance sheets; trading accounts; cash management analysis; FBT and entity disclosure requirements. NOTE An Employee is not required to perform all duties listed to satisfy this skill descriptor.  Train staff classified at lower levels by means of personal instruction and demonstration.  Within a variety of routines, methods and	their work area and identifying future trends.  Under broad guidance supervise the administration of specialized salary and payroll requirements, which may include: eligible termination payments, superannuation trust deed requirements, redundancy calculations or workers' compensation claims.  Prepare for senior management financial reports relating to the Employee's area of responsibility.  Apply a knowledge of relevant industrial awards and agreements and occupational health and safety requirements.  Provide general advice to staff in these areas.  Original writing of promotional and advertising material.  Coordination of, and participation in, marketing activities.  Design of promotional and marketing plans.  Responsibility for liaison with media	and which initiates or responds to new cases or situations.  Formulate procedural policy and guidelines in the Employee's area of responsibility; submit recommendations for decision and prepare supporting statements as necessary.  Direct and support Employees reporting to the position in policies to be followed, methods to be used and standards to be observed.  Advise and assist in the preparation of the school budget.  Provide executive support to Principals and senior management.  Provide advice or make recommendations requiring detailed knowledge of policies, and/or the interpretation of rules or regulations within established guidelines, relating to a major function of the organizational work areas.  Supervise staff including participation in induction, training, review, counselling and appraisal and providing feedback on performance.	Provide subject matter expertise and/or policy advice across a range of programs or activities undertaken by the organizational area, formulate policies and provide specialist advice or policy formulation to senior management.  Undertake high level research, review or investigations including the preparation of reports and associated papers to provide advice to the school on the operational and/or future directions of the Employee's section and to contribute to the development of that section in the educational context of the school.  Prepare papers, investigate and present information with recommendations for decision by senior officers.

Administration Emplo	Administration Employees				
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
		procedures provide significant assistance in the enrolment, family liaison and placement of overseas students			

Information Services and Re	esources Employees				
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Process basic transactions such as issues and returns, produce overdue lists, entry of orders in a computerised system, perform stock takes, entering of accession information into computer.  Operate and demonstrate the use of audio-visual equipment where there is limited complexity.  Maintain a booking system for equipment use and for the organisation of repairs and replacement of equipment.  Within well-established routines, methods and procedures, record audio/video programs and maintain a catalogue system of such recordings.  Perform a range of general duties at a basic level, for example, minor book repairs, photocopying and shelving.  Receive and deal with initial requests for information from library clients.	Search and verify bibliographical data where some discretion and judgement are involved.  Copy catalogue books, magazines, journals and recorded material where some discretion and judgement are involved.  Maintain circulation systems where some discretion and judgement are involved.  Respond to enquiries from staff, students, parents and the general public and address issues in accordance with routines, methods and procedures.  Assist in the demonstration of complex audio visual or computer equipment under supervision of academic staff member(s) where some discretion and judgement are involved.	Responsibility for and/or training of subordinate staff in limited areas may be required  Within a variety of routines and procedures and with a depth of knowledge in some areas: demonstrate to staff and students the use of complex audio visual or computer equipment; or monitor performance of and carry out repairs to specialised equipment.	Apply a range of technical and other skills involving the self-directed application of knowledge gained through formal studies/qualifications applicable to this level or knowledge and experience that are determined by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position. This may include: independent and original cataloguing and classification following precedents and standards; monitoring the performance of, and carrying out repairs to, specialised equipment; and developing the framework for and providing the instruction to students (within a structured learning environment) under the general supervision of an academic staff member(s).	Apply a range of professional knowledge gained through successful completion of an appropriate undergraduate degree.  Operate (at a level consistent with the qualifications required) a library/resource centre. This may (or may not) include responsibility for the supervision, monitoring and training of staff in lower level positions.  Administer the allocation and monitoring of resources in the library/resource centre.  Support Employees reporting to the position in policies to be followed, methods to be used and standards to be observed.  Provide professional advice to staff and students in the officer's area of expertise.  Formulate procedural policy and guidelines in the Employee's area of responsibility; submit recommendations for	Apply a range of professional knowledge gained through successful completion of an appropriate undergraduate degree and post graduate qualifications and/or other professional development and/or industry experience.  Responsibility for the operation of a library/resource centre which provides complex and varied services. This may (or may not) include responsibility for the supervision, monitoring and training of professional staff and staff in lower level positions.  Manage the allocation and monitoring of resources in the library/resource centre.  Responsibility for direction and support of Employees reporting to the position in policies to be followed, methods to be used and standards to be observed.

Under the direct supervision of an academic staff member(s), assist in the demonstration of routine library operations and procedures.  Under the direct supervision of an academic staff member(s), assist in the supervision of students in the library.		decision and prepare supporting statements as necessary.	Provide subject matter expertise and/or policy advice across a range of programs or activities undertaken by the organizational area, formulate policies and provide specialist advice on policy formulation to senior management.
Under direct supervision of a higher level officer or members of the academic staff prepare and clear away materials for display/use in classrooms or libraries.)			

Computer/ICT Employees					
Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Use keyboard skills to produce a document from written text using a standard format.  Operate within wellestablished routines, office equipment, such as, computer, photocopier, facsimile, binding machine, guillotine, laminator, franking machine, calculators, switchboard, etc.	Use software application packages for personal computers to create database file structures; and spreadsheets/work sheets.	Within a variety of routines, methods and procedures, maintain the hardware and software components of a computer network and provide user support.  Responsibility for and/or training of subordinate staff in limited areas may be required.	Apply a range of technical and other skills involving the self-directed application of knowledge gained through formal studies/qualifications applicable to this level or knowledge and experience that are determined by the Employer as necessary to successfully carry out the duties of the position. This may include: Assisting with systems analysis and design in relation to the development and maintenance of computer systems; and assisting with application programming (e.g. modification of package systems; and investigation of malfunctions in operational programs).	Operate and be responsible for the computing section of the school and all its operations.  Perform non-routine professional tasks governed by procedures or guidelines. Within such constraints the Employee is responsible for the independent performance of such functions.  Provide financial, policy and planning advice and investigate, interpret or evaluate information for the guidance of staff or management in the computing area.  Be responsible for the development of software, hardware or applications systems based on the use of current computer techniques.  Be responsible for the development of computer systems, and recommend changes and improvements in systems where appropriate.  Undertake maintenance programming tasks,	Operate and be responsible for the computing section which provides complex and varied services to the school community including being responsible for the supervision, monitoring and development of other staff reporting to the position.  Research and examine likely long-term requirements for computer systems, suggest alternative plans and strategies and report on their feasibility.  Consult with departmental computer users to understand and meet the needs of the department and resolve problems concerning systems.  Investigate and design the implementation of computer systems to meet specific needs of work areas.  Carry out a range of complex and varied tasks requiring the selection and application of new and existing techniques and methodologies necessary

de ne cha sys Pro ser sch op dir uti kn. exp	esign requirements ecessary to implement hanges to existing ystems.  rovide advice to the enior executive of the chool on the perations/future irections of the section by tillsing acquired nowledge and xperience.  farry out a range of tasks ecessary to support and evelop systems software	to support and develop systems software or other support processes.  Develop and present appropriate computer training courses.
--	--	---

## Appendix 3

#### **Senior Teacher**

#### 1. Senior Teacher

- **1.1** A full time permanent teacher is eligible to be a Senior Teacher when he/she:
  - (a) has been on the classification Proficient 8 for a period of twelve (12) months; and
  - (b) signs and presents to the Principal an undertaking clearly consistent with Clause 2 Senior Teacher Action Plan.
- 1.2 The College will confirm advice to the teacher regarding the teacher's eligibility to be a Senior Teacher, following a written request from a teacher for such confirmation. Such confirmation will be in writing and identify the date of eligibility.
- 1.3 The teacher may submit a Senior Teacher Action Plan (see 2 below) prior to the eligibility date. However, remuneration as a Senior Teacher will commence only from the date of eligibility.

#### 2. Senior Teacher Action Plan

- 2.1 The teacher will submit a Senior Teacher Action Plan which lists one or more tasks the teacher will undertake consistent with the express intention of increasing the standard of the teacher's contribution to the educational life of the College.
- This undertaking will be in the form of a Senior Teacher Action Plan (Attachment 1), which will identify specific task/s consistent with one or more of the skills identified in Clause 2.7.
- 2.3 The Senior Teacher Action Plan will be submitted to the Principal and signed by the Teacher and the Principal, once the Plan is agreed upon by both parties. The Principal may delegate this role to a Head of School or office manager or may ask the teacher to modify the Action Plan in consultation with the Head of School or office manager. This process should be carried out in a timely and efficient manner.
- The date of the final signing by both parties is the date of appointment, unless the Action Plan specifies a different starting date.
- 2.5 The Senior Teacher Action Plan may be altered (a) by a teacher re-submitting the Senior Teacher Action Plan to the Principal, or (b) the Principal giving the teacher three terms; notice of the need to submit a new Action Plan. The teacher may re-submit a Senior Teacher Action Plan no more than once per year, which will go through the same process as in Clause 2.3 (above).
- The tasks identified in the Senior Teacher Action Plan will be undertaken by the teacher in a timely and effective manner consistent with the overall program of the College.
- 2.7 The task/s identified shall utilise and/or demonstrate one or more of the following skills in:
  - (a) effective classroom practices;
  - (b) tutoring or extending students' knowledge or skills;
  - (c) evaluating and reporting student's progress;
  - (d) developing a co-curricular area;
  - (e) developing relationships with students;
  - (f) the development of personal and professional relationships with other staff members, parents and the wider community;
  - (g) the development and implementation of ideas gained from professional development activities to enhance student's learning;
  - (h) the development and implementation of ideas gained from professional development activities to promote organisational development; and
  - (i) administration or organisation or a technical field.

#### 3. Classroom Allocation

The tasks of a Senior Teacher will not be so frequent or onerous as to detract from the Senior Teacher's primary role as a classroom teacher. The normal classroom load of a Senior Teacher may be adjusted when necessary, from time to time at the discretion of the Principal, with the available resources and where consistent with the Hours of Duty provisions.

## 4. Tenure

- 4.1 Should a teacher not comply with an undertaking he/she has given, or fail to submit an acceptable progress report on the action plan using the required reporting template report at the end of each term, the Principal will:
  - (a) outline the nature of the non-compliance; and
  - (b) provide the teacher with an opportunity to provide an explanation.
- 4.2 If the teacher does not provide an explanation to the satisfaction of the Principal and after being given an opportunity, fails to address the situation, then:
  - 4.2.1 the Principal will provide a written determination to the teacher outlining the teacher's noncompliance with the undertaking; and
  - 4.2.2 the teacher will revert to the classification Proficient 8 for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of the Principal's written determination.
- 4.3 After twelve (12) months, the teacher is again eligible for access to senior teacher, provided that the Principal is satisfied that the undertaking given will be honoured.
- **4.4** The appointment will automatically lapse in the event of the person taking on a temporary or permanent Position of Added Responsibility.

#### 5. Remuneration

Remuneration is—payable to a teacher classified as Senior Teacher is at the rate prescribed in Attachment 1 and is payable from the first full pay period on or after approval of the Senior Teacher application.

# Attachment 1

# **SENIOR TEACHER ACTION PLAN**

Name:

Following discussion with the Principal, I submit the following Action Plan that involves projects consistent with one or more of the areas identified in Clause 2.7 of <a href="Appendix 3">Appendix 3</a> of the Agreement:

Project name:					
Goal/s					
Reporting Period: Start ☐ Term 1 ☐ Term 2 ☐ Term 3 ☐ Term 4 ☐					
Objectives	Strategies / Actions	Progress notes / Achievements			
Signature	Date /	/			
 Principal	Date /				

## Appendix 4

# **Highly Accomplished and Lead Teachers (HALT)**

# 1 Implementation Arrangements

(a) The terms of this Clause shall apply from 1 January 2021,

#### 2. Remuneration Level

- (a) Teachers who hold certification as a Highly Accomplished Teacher or Lead Teacher (HALT), and who have more than the equivalent of five (5) years' (i.e. 6000 hours) teaching experience, will be paid at the appropriate HALT level of the Teacher salary scale.
- (b) Years of teaching service shall be deemed to include service with Suncoast Christian College as well as other education employing authorities.

## 3. Roles and Duties

- (a) Roles and duties undertaken by a teacher classified as HALT will be identified and confirmed by consultation between the school and the teacher, and will fall within the relevant descriptors in the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers (APST).
- (b) Teachers classified as HALT may be requested to perform additional duties. Such additional duties shall be discounted from a teacher's normal hours of duty as defined in the Agreement. Such duties, where agreed to and undertaken, should not be those duties generally associated with positions of added responsibility.

## 4. Positions of Added Responsibility

- (a) Teachers who hold positions of added responsibility shall be eligible to apply for HALT in accordance with the requirements of section (b) of this Appendix.
- (b) Where a teacher holds a HALT classification and a position of added responsibility, the total remuneration paid will be the greater of the two positions.

# 5. Currency

(a) Teachers must maintain currency of their certification as a HALT for their salary to be continued. Where renewal is not confirmed or if the certification is revoked by the certifying authority, teachers will be paid on the classification scale in accordance with their teaching service.

## 6. Portability

- (a) Teachers who have been certified as HALT by a certifying body whose processes comply with those of the Australian Institute of Teaching and Leadership (AITSL), and who have at least five (5) years' (6,000 hours) teaching experience, will be classified as HALT at Suncoast Christian College
- (b) Teachers new to Suncoast Christian College who are certified as HALT in accordance with clause 6(a) of this Appendix, will be classified as HALT for the remainder of their HALT appointment period.

# 7. Quota

(a) No quotas are applicable to HALT classifications.

# 8. Operational Arrangements

- (a) The College will not cover any of the costs associated with becoming a Highly Accomplished or Lead Teacher, but will provide release time to attend the professional development training provided by Independent Schools Queensland (ISQ).
- (b) An applicant for Highly Accomplished or Lead Teacher may use College facilities and equipment when undertaking work associated with certification.

## 9. Remuneration

(a) Remuneration for Highly Accomplished and Leading Teachers will be as per Appendix 1 of this Agreement

#### Appendix 5

#### **Positions of Added Responsibility**

#### 1. PRELIMINARY

## 1.1 Agreement Coverage

This Agreement shall apply to those teachers appointed to positions of added responsibility whose rates of remuneration are prescribed by this Agreement and who are employed by the College.

## 1.2 Determination of Structure

There will be a Positions of Added Responsibility structure at the College. The parties to this agreement accept that the determination of the College's Positions of Added Responsibility structure is the prerogative of the College Principal, and that variations to the structure may be made from time to time including during the life of this Agreement.

## 1.3 Introduction

This Appendix prescribes conditions of employment for PARs covered in this Agreement.

#### 2. DEFINITIONS

A PAR is defined as a teaching position within the promotional structure of the College (up to Head of School) where the incumbent may be responsible for the co-ordination of curricular and/or co-curricular duties associated with (a) subject(s) or subject area(s) or the co-ordination of pastoral duties.

## 3. P-12 APPOINTMENTS

The College may appoint teachers to positions which have a P-12 responsibility (Librarian and Head of Sport). The remuneration and release time for such positions will be determined by the College Principal and will be commensurate with the College's expectations of such positions.

#### 4. SHARED RESPONSIBILITY

Where an area of responsibility is shared, the PAR points will be shared between those responsible as determined by the College Principal.

# 5. POSITIONS OF ADDED RESPONSIBILITY

# (i) Secondary Academic

The PAR level shall be determined by the following:

- Level 6: Where the subject(s) or subject area(s) concerned in the Secondary School occupies at least 100 periods in the weekly teaching program, or at the Principal's discretion, a Level 6 PAR shall be appointed.
- Level 5: Where the subject(s) or subject area(s) concerned in the Secondary School occupies at least 60 periods in the weekly teaching program, a Level 5 PAR shall be appointed.
- Level 3: Where the subject(s) or subject area(s) concerned in the Secondary School occupies at least 40 periods in the weekly teaching program, a Level 3 PAR shall be appointed.
- Level 2: Where the subject(s) or subject area(s) concerned in the Secondary School occupies greater than 25 periods in the weekly teaching program, a Level 2 PAR shall be appointed.
- Level 1: Where a teacher has sole responsibility for the co-ordination of the subject(s) or subject area(s) concerned in the Secondary School, and the subject(s) or subject area(s) are not under another Co-ordinator or Head of Department, a Level 1 PAR may be appointed.

A teacher who is appointed as a PAR (Secondary Academic) shall be entitled to additional time release and /or remuneration as set out in the table below:

#### **PAR TABLE**

Level	Total PAR Units	Salary Allowance	Time Release
6	12	5	7
5	9	4	5
4	8	3	5
3	6	2	4
2	4	1	3
1	2	0	2

The parties note that by agreement with the agreement of the teacher and the Employer, the Salary Allowance and Time Release breakdown of a PAR position may be adjusted, provided that the Total PAR Units in the above table are met.

The College always reserves the right to determine which subjects will be grouped together under a Co-ordinator or Head of Department. It also reserves the right to alter such groupings from time to time to suit the needs of the College as determined by the Principal.

# (ii) Secondary Pastoral

Pastoral Care is an integral part of the work of the College. The structure of positions of added responsibility in Pastoral Care will vary as the need changes within the College. It will include Counsellors, Chaplains, Year Level Co-ordinators, Home Class teachers and other such positions.

Year Level Coordinators will be a Level 4 PAR.

#### (iii) Primary Roles

PARs may be offered in the Primary School to fulfil curriculum and pastoral roles. The nature and structure of these positions may vary according to the needs of the College.

Primary PARs would typically be a Level 4 PAR. The remuneration and release time for such positions will be negotiated with the College Principal and will be commensurate with College's expectations of such positions.

#### (iv) Other

The College may appoint teachers to other Positions of Added Responsibility (such as Vocational Education Co-ordinator, maintenance of specialist learning facilities, coordination of performances etc.) The remuneration and release time for such positions will be determined by the College Principal and will be commensurate with the College's expectations of such positions.

The College commits to allocating staffing resources to the \$ value equivalent of 106 PAR points per year for the life of the Agreement to positions undertaking the responsibilities described in Sections 3 and 5 above.

This PAR allocation will be in the form of one or more of a combination of time release for teachers, salary allowance for teachers, or extra salary for teacher aides. This allocation will be made in consultation with teaching staff and teacher aides.

# 6. REMUNERATION

- (a) For the purpose of determining the appropriate remuneration and release time for each leave of PAR, one unit of allowance and one unit of release time shall be calculated as follows:
- each PAR point unit of salary allowance will be calculated at the rate of 2.60 % of the current highest automatic classroom teacher rate.
- each PAR point unit of release time will be equivalent to one teaching period per week; and
- payment of any PAR point salary allowance to any teacher negates any responsibility for the College to pay the same teacher a Senior Teacher Allowance for the duration of the former payment.
- (b) The allowance is determined by the pay appendix of the Agreement and payable for all purposes of the relevant Award and this Agreement.

#### 7. SELECTION PROCESS

Appointment to the position of PAR shall be at the discretion of the Principal. The suitability of an applicant for a position will be based on the requirements of the job description and general College needs.

#### 8. TENURE

A Teacher who is appointed to a promotional position shall retain that position for an initial period of two (2) years with a further two (2) year appointment subject to a satisfactory performance review at the conclusion of the first two (2) years, except where:

- (1) the existing promotional position has been abolished; or
- (2) the existing promotional position has been abolished and a new position has been declared open and the applicant fails to be reappointed to such a position; and

The provisions of subclauses (1) and (2) shall only be applied in circumstances where the College has undertaken academic and/or administrative change that has resulted in an alteration to the duties and/or responsibilities of the existing position.

The performance review process shall be negotiated and based upon the principles outlined in section 10 of this appendix.

A teacher holding a promotional position which is terminated in accordance with this clause, or who resigns from their promotional position giving four (4) weeks of term-time notice, shall continue to be employed as a teacher under the terms of this Agreement. This provision does not apply to those terminated for incompetence, misconduct or neglect of duty who may be summarily dismissed without notice.

#### 9. ACCOUNTABILITY

The College and its staff recognise that the face of education in Australia is currently changing rapidly and is likely to continue to do so. In this context, all staff members who hold Positions of Added Responsibility will be accountable to:

- achieve the performance outcomes required within the College's Strategic Operational Plan;
- achieve a high level of student and parent satisfaction in their area of responsibility;
- maintain in their area of responsibility, a "cutting edge" level of development in terms of programs, teaching methodology, Information Technology, and forward planning;
- maintain currency in their field of responsibility through personal reading, study and professional development;
- maintain a clear vision for the development of their area of responsibility in line with the College's Strategic Goals and current educational trends; and
- consistently support and reflect the College's ethos in their personal and professional lives.

A review/appraisal process will be collaboratively developed and shall reflect the following principles:

- shared Responsibility;
- · consultation;
- self review of performance based on role description and duty statement;
- validation;
- documentation;
- · natural justice; and
- resourcing

The above principles are elaborated in the following terms:

## **Shared Responsibility:**

 the responsibility for the appraisal process is shared by the Employer (or nominee) and the Appraisee; and • the details of the process will clearly indicate who has the responsibility for each component of the process and how the responsibility will be exercised.

#### **Negotiation:**

- · negotiable aspects should be identified and documented; and
- the Principal/Appraisee should be prepared to discuss and agree upon certain aspects within the broad framework of the appraisal process.

#### Consultation:

• Principal consults collaboratively with the role holder for input and advice.

#### Self Review of Performance Based on Role Description and Duty Statement:

- the Appraisee reflects upon practice within the framework of the Role Description / Duty Statement applicable during the term under review;
- these documents set and inform the parameters for the format of the self review;
- the self review may be transmitted in written, oral or some other negotiated form;
- the self review may be a culmination of on-going documentation of practice;
- the reflection includes areas of performance that are believed to have been effective and areas of performance that may require further development; and
- it is the performance of the incumbent that is being reviewed. There is no judgement of the person involved.

#### Validation:

- within the framework of the process, data related to the role and duty statements will be gathered to validate the self review; and
- the methodology for validation shall form part of the consultation process.

#### **Documentation:**

• the Summative Appraisal generates a written report that is submitted to the Principal. The report remains the property of the Principal and the Appraisee.

# Confidentiality:

 all materials other than the final report generated in the process shall remain confidential to that process.

#### **Natural Justice:**

- the Appraisee is advised of the content of information obtained in relation to the Appraisee as part of the process. Only information which has been substantiated will form part of the appraisal process;
- the Appraisee has the right to approach the panel to be informed of the content and nature of the information gathered and the identity of those who supplied it;
- the Appraisee is given reasonable opportunity to respond to the matters dealt with in the information; and
- any person asked to provide information for use in an appraisal process is to be advised, at the time
  of the request, that such information and the identity of the person providing the information may
  be made known to the Appraisee.

#### Resourcing:

- provision of appropriate resources for the process will be negotiated between the Appraisee, those undertaking a role in the appraisal on the one hand and the College on the other; and
- the level of resourcing to address the outcomes of appraisal will be a matter of negotiation between the Appraisee and the College.

#### 10. CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

A teacher appointed to a Position of Added Responsibility under this Appendix shall be provided with a letter of appointment which sets out the following:

- (a) the Level allocated to the position; and/or
- (b) the distribution of the total allocation of salary and time release units. This distribution may be varied on an annual basis at the discretion of the Principal. However, where such variation occurs, this variation is to be detailed in writing.

# 11. SUPPLEMENTARY PAR POINTS

Supplementary PAR Points (over and above the contracted number) may be allocated by the College Principal at his/her discretion for a fixed period of time to meet the particular needs of the College's Strategic Operational Plan at that time.

#### Appendix 6

# **Early Learning Centre Conditions**

#### 1. Application

1.1. This Schedule shall apply to all Employees who are employed in the Early Learning Centre (ELC) at Suncoast Christian College (the Employer).

#### 2. ELC Year

- 2.1 The Early Learning Centre will be open for 48 weeks of each calendar year subject to gazetted public holidays.
- 2.2 The ELC will be delivering an accredited kindergarten program for up to 40 weeks per calendar year.

# 3. Ordinary hours of work

- 3.1 The ordinary hours of work of full-time Employees will be an average of 38 hours per week over a one, two or four week cycle.
- 3.2 Ordinary hours will be worked between 6:45am and 5:45pm in periods not exceeding eight hours, in unbroken periods save for meal breaks, between Monday and Friday.
- 3.3 Staff meetings of two hours duration will be held each month, in paid time.

#### 3.4 Overtime

- 3.4.1 All time worked in excess of the total ordinary hours of work in clause 3.1 or outside of the ordinary hours of work contained in clause 3.2 will be deemed overtime.
- 3.4.2 Overtime will be paid at the rate of time and a half for the first two hours and double time thereafter.
- 3.4.2 An Employee who has worked overtime hours may elect to take the time as accumulated time in lieu. Such time in lieu shall be taken at an agreed time in the same calendar year in which the overtime was worked and shall accrue on the basis of the actual hours worked (i.e. an hour worked is banked as an hour of time in lieu).

## 4. Unpaid breaks

4.1 ELC employees are entitled to an unpaid meal break of at least thirty (30) continuous minutes per day if an employee works in excess of 5 hours.

# 5. Paid rest pauses

- 5.1 ELC employees shall receive a paid rest pause of ten (10) minutes in the first half and ten (10) minutes in the second half of each day worked.
- 5.2 ELC employees other than full-time who work a minimum of four (4) consecutive ordinary hours but no more than six (6) consecutive ordinary hours on any one day shall receive a rest pause of ten (10) minutes' duration. Employees who work in excess of six (6) consecutive ordinary hours (excluding the meal break) on any one day shall receive a rest pause of ten (10) minutes' duration in the first half and the second half of the period worked.
- 5.3 Such rest pauses shall be taken at such times as will not interfere with continuity of work where continuity is necessary.
- 5.4 Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the employer and the employees agree the rest pauses may be combined.

# 6. Attendance at ELC for school events

6.1 Required attendance at College or ELC events shall be deemed to be overtime in accordance with clause 3.4 should such work occur in excess of ordinary hours or outside the span of ordinary hours.

# 7. Teachers

7.1 The Employer may require ELC Teachers to be present for professional duties within the ELC, including in-service professional development, for up to the equivalent of forty (40) calendar weeks. Public holidays which fall within the forty weeks will be observed.

## 8. Non-Contact time - Teachers

8.1 Teachers responsible for programming and planning for a group of children will be entitled to a minimum of two hours and 30 minutes per week, during which the Employee is not required to teach or supervise children or perform other duties directed by the Employer, for the purpose of planning, preparing, researching and programming.

# 9. Administration time – Director & Nominated Supervisor

- 9.1 A teacher who is also the Director and Nominated Supervisor in the ELC will be provided 1 full day administration time for every 4 days of delivering the kindergarten program.
- 9.2 Administration time is provided for the ensuring the day-to-day running of the ELC and a time during which the director is not required to teach or supervise children. Examples of the duties that may be undertaken during this time include preparing programs, rostering, correspondence, and matters of regulatory compliance.

# 10. Nominated Supervisor

10.1 The Director of the ELC may also be the designated Nominated Supervisor. The Director will be on call for emergencies outside of the 40 weeks (but not more than 48 weeks) the kindergarten program is being delivered.

# 11. Early Learning Centre employees (excluding Teachers ie. Teaching Assistants/Educator)

- 11.1 An Early Learning Centre employee (excluding teachers) in the ELC will be appointed at the appropriate classification level and step as per the Early Learning Centre Staff (excluding Teachers) provisions of this Agreement.
- 11.2 The Employer will recognise any relevant prior service when determining the appropriate classification level and step.

#### 12. Non-contact time – Non-teachers

An Employee responsible for the preparation, implementation and/or evaluation of a developmental program for an individual child or group of children will be entitled to a minimum of two (2) hours and thirty (30) minutes per week during which the Employee is not required to supervise children or perform other duties directed by the Employer, for the purpose of planning, preparing, evaluating and programming activities.

# 13. Rostering – Non-teachers

- 13.1 An Employer will post a legible roster at a place readily accessible to Employees indicating the rostered hours of work.
- 13.2 Rostered hours for an Employee will only be changed after seven days' notice has been given, unless by mutual agreement between the College and Employee, the notice period is waived, shortened or due to an emergency outside the College's control.
- 13.3 However, where an Employee is required to stay beyond their rostered hours because a parent fails to arrive on time to collect a child, this will not be regarded as an emergency. In this circumstance, the Employer must pay the Employee at overtime rates for the additional time the Employee remains at the workplace.

### 14. Classification

# 14.1 Teachers

Teachers employed in the Early Learning Centre will be classified according to the Teacher Classification provision in this Agreement.

# 14.2 Directors

Directors employed in the Early Learning Centre will be classified at the Director rate.

# 14.3 Assistant Directors

Assistant Directors employed in the Early Learning Centre will be classified at the Assistant Director rate, beginning on Assistant Director Level 1 and progressing to Assistant Director Level 2 by automatic increment upon completion of one year of service.

# 14.4 Group Leaders

Group Leaders employed in the Early Learning Centre will be classified according to years of experience, beginning on Group Leader Level 1 and progressing to Group Leader Level 4 by automatic increment upon completion of one year of service.

# 14.5 Childcare Assistants

Childcare Assistants employed in the Early Learning Centre will be classified according to years of experience, beginning on Childcare Assistant Level 1 and progressing to Childcare Assistant Level 5 by automatic increment upon completion of one year of service.

Childcare Assistants who are Diploma qualified shall be classified as Childcare Assistant Level 5 in recognition of their additional qualification.

This page is intentionally blank